THE INFLUENCE OF BACE1 EXPRESSION ON THE RECRUITMENT OF MACROPHAGES TO THE INJURED PERIPHERAL NERVE

by

John A. Fissel

A dissertation submitted to Johns Hopkins University in conformity with the

requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

Baltimore, Maryland

October 2020

© 2020 John Fissel

All rights reserved

Abstract

Macrophages play a critical role in regeneration following peripheral nerve injury. Hematogenous macrophages are recruited to the distal nerve segment and shape the injured nerve microenvironment to be more conducive to regeneration through the clearance of cellular debris and the production of neurotrophic factors. Enhanced macrophage recruitment and debris clearance has been observed in BACE1 KO mice. This phenotype could be the result of BACE1 activity in macrophages, other nerve resident cells (neurons, Schwann cells), or it could also be the result of the hypomyelination phenotype that is also observed in BACE1 KO mice. To date it is uncertain what potential mechanisms may be driving this enhanced recruitment and debris clearance phenotype. Further, it is unknown which cell types in the peripheral microenvironment contribute most towards this phenotype when BACE1 is deleted. BACE1 is a promiscuous enzyme and has many substrates, thus may play a role in a variety pathways that could result in this enhanced macrophage recruitment and debris clearance phenotype. This thesis discusses several known BACE1 substrates and how they could impact macrophages in the context of peripheral nerve regeneration. Previous work done in our lab suggests that elimination of expression of BACE1 in cells derived from bone marrow may recapitulate the enhanced macrophage recruitment and activity phenotype. This thesis utilizes a mouse model with macrophage specific deletion of BACE1 to investigate whether BACE1 expression by macrophages mediates the immumodulatory phenotype observed in global BACE1 KO mice. This thesis demonstrates that there is not enhanced recruitment of macrophages to the injured peripheral nerve following injury. This suggests that the elimination of BACE1

ii

expression by macrophages is not essential for the increased recruitment phenotype observed in global BACE1 KO mice.

Mentor: Dr. Mohamed H. Farah

Thesis committee: Dr. Charles G. Eberhart, Dr. Brett M. Morrison, Dr. Petros C.

Karakousis, and Edward W. Harhaj (former member)

Readers: Dr. Mohamed H. Farah and Dr. Charles G. Eberhart

Acknowledgements

I would not be completing my PhD without the support I have received from my family, friends, mentors, and educators. I am so grateful to have been able to train at the Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine.

First I'd like to thank my wife, Sara. You've always been a source of unconditional love and support during my greatest moments and during the tough times. No matter how things go in my career I know that you will support me and be there for me and I cannot thank you enough for that. It means the world to me that you jump in celebration of my accomplishments, even when I am reluctant to do so myself. I could not have done this without you and I am forever grateful to be your husband.

Next I'd like to thank my family. My only regret as I write these words is that my father, John C. Fissel, passed away before he could share this milestone with me. Thank you so much for never getting annoyed with all my questions as a kid. You were always so patient with my onslaught of questions and always answered as best you could. This truly helped form the foundation for my love of science and curiosity for the natural world. My mother further fostered my love for science and always sought the best opportunities for me to grow. Whether it was enrolling me in a science magnet school or encouraging my career ambitions, you have always been my biggest fan. I would never have applied to this graduate program without your encouragement. I've also been fortunate to have two older sisters who have been my fiercest defenders, even when I'm the one giving myself a hard time. I'd also like to thank some of my friends, Joey, Danielle, and Eric back home in New Mexico who have still remained close despite thousands of miles and two times zones between us.

I'd like to thank my thesis mentor, Mohamed for always supporting me and encouraging to follow my interests, even when they shifted away from neuroscience. Without his enthusiastic support I may have never have followed my passions and risked switching fields and pursuing a career in clinical microbiology. Mohamed has been an wonderful mentor and I am very grateful for his positive attitude, attention to detail, and wisdom. I will be well served going forward in my career with the training and wisdom that you have imparted to me.

Next I'd like to thank the members of the Farah Lab and some of our amazing neighbors. Thanks so much to Lijuan Liu, she was a huge help getting my feet under me when I rotated and joined the lab. Thanks to Carolyn for forcing me to have a laid back dinner before my oral exam, always being generous with your reagents and equipment, and for always knowing where the antibodies are even though you graduated years ago. Katie, you've always been a huge help to me and are by far the most thoughtful lab citizen I've known. Thanks to you and Carolyn for all the laughs and for always getting my Mel Brooks references. MJ thanks so much for putting the last bit of polish on my manuscript and always being a team player. In addition to the Farah lab I'd also like to thank some of the wonderful members of neighboring labs. First I'd like to thank my wise sage scientists, Jeremy, Jeff, and Thomas, you all always shared great advice, techniques, and equipment with me. Jeremy, I will miss our chats about current events and miss your seemingly limitless knowledge about science. Jeff, I miss your willingness to drop everything and help me with my problems and questions. Thomas I'll miss our conversations about soccer and thank you so much for your help as I was getting my

٧

thesis work over the finish line. I'd also like to thank everyone in Rangos 250, I am so fortunate to have trained on a floor full of generous people.

To my thesis committee members, Charles Eberhart, Brett Morrison, and Petros Karakousis, thank you for your guidance over the course of my training. Without your guidance I would not be writing this today. I'd like to thank Charles for agreeing to read this thesis and for helping to connect me with my outstanding clinical microbiology mentor, Dr. Patricia (Trish) Simner. I'm very fortunate to have such a great group of mentors that have been so supportive of my transitioning career path. I'd also like to thank Ed Harhaj for his committee service during the beginning of my thesis.

I'd also like to thank the Pathobiology program. Pathobiology was my first interview for grad schools. It was also my top choice so I very nervous and felt I was jumping into the deep end first. I'll never forget having to pull over on the side of the highway to find out that I had been given an offer to join the program. Thank you so much to current program administrator Stacey Morgan and former administrator Tracie McElroy. Without your help I would not have gotten this over the finish line. I'd also like to thank Dr. Lee Martin for his thoughtful insights, his care for students, and his continued support for my career. I'd also like to thank all of the Pathobiology faculty members. This program has a great group of faculty and mentors and I learned so much from my interactions with you all during journal clubs, course work, rotations, and our annual retreat. Finally I'd like to thank my fellow Pathobiology students. I could write a separate dissertation on how much fun I had with you over the years but I have to say that my time in Baltimore was made truly special by you all.

vi

Finally, I'd like to thank some teachers and professors I've had along the way that really inspired me and made me the scientist I am today. To my 6th and 7th grade science teachers Mrs. Torres and Mr. Dinger, thank you so much for sharing your passion for science. I was nervous to join a different school to participate in a science magnet, but because of teachers like you it was a fantastic experience. In high school I was very fortunate to have had Mrs. Wenz for senior English, Mr. Johnson for my allied health courses, and Dr. Richardson for A&P. They all played an important part in the success of my education. During my undergraduate studies I have to thank Dr. Angus Dawe. He was my first PI and gave me an opportunity to get some research experience in his lab. He was an amazing undergraduate mentor and I am very thankful for his support. I'd also like to thank the graduate student who mentored me in Dr. Dawe's lab, Karyn Willyerd (Coach). You really helped give me confidence in my work and I might not be here today without your early encouragement during my first experiences with research. I'd also like to thank my teaching mentor Dr. Michèle Shuster, you were an inspiration during my time as a HHMI Biocat and I have always strived to be a great teacher throughout my studies.

Thank you all from the bottom of my heart. I am so grateful for all the laughs, support, inspiration, and encouragement over the years. This thesis is truly a testament to you all.

Table of Contents

ABSTRACT	II
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	IV
LIST OF FIGURES	<u> </u>
CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
INTRODUCTION	1
DEGENERATION FOLLOWING INJURY	5
RECRUITMENT OF MACROPHAGES TO THE SITE OF INJURY	7
ROLE OF MACROPHAGES IN CELLULAR DEBRIS CLEARANCE	8
NEUROTROPHIC FUNCTIONALITY OF MACROPHAGES	10
BETA SECRETASE	12
BACE1 SUBSTRATES WITH IMMUNOMODULATORY POTENTIAL	15
INTERLEUKIN 1 RECEPTOR 2 (IL1-R2)	15
JAGGED1 (JAG1)	22
ST6 BETA-GALACTOSIDE ALPHA-2,6-SIALYLTRANSFERASE 1 (ST6GAL-1)	28
P-SELECTIN GLYCOPROTEIN LIGAND-1 (PSGL-1)	33
CONCLUDING REMARKS OF THE INTRODUCTION	34

CHAPTER 2: MACROPHAGE-SPECIFIC DELETION OF BACE1 DOES NOT

ENHANCE MACROPHAGE RECRUITMENT TO THE INJURED

PERIPHERAL NERVE	35

35

INTRODUCTION TO CHAPTER 2

RESULTS	37
SUMMARY OF CHAPTER 2	51
CHAPTER 3: CONCLUSIONS	52
MACROPHAGE-SPECIFIC DELETION OF BACE1 DOES NOT ENHANCE MACROPHAGE	
RECRUITMENT TO THE INJURED PERIPHERAL NERVE	52
RESULTS OF MACROPHAGE-SPECIFIC DELETION OF BACE1 AND THE IMPLICATIONS	
FOR POTENTIAL IMMUNOMODULATORY MECHANISMS OF BACE1 SUBSTRATES	56
FINAL CONCLUSION	58
CHAPTER 4: METHODS	<u>59</u>
ANIMALS	59
PERITONEAL MACROPHAGE HARVEST AND CULTURE	59
RT-PCR	60
SCIATIC NERVE TRANSECTION	61
MOUSE PERFUSION	62
MYELINATED AXON QUANTIFICATION	62
Immunofluorescence	62
QUANTIFICATION OF IMMUNOFLUORESCENCE IMAGES	63
PHAGOCYTOSIS ASSAY	64
STATISTICAL ANALYSIS	64
FIGURE ART	65
REFERENCES	66

List of Figures

Fig 1. Sequence of events post-nerve injury3
Fig 2. Possible regulatory mechanisms of IL-1 by BACE1 activity
Fig 3. Possible regulatory mechanisms of Notch signaling by BACE1 cleavage of Jag126
Fig 4. Possible mechanisms of BACE1 regulation of ST6gal-1 and PSGL-1
Fig. 5. BACE1 expression in peritoneal macrophages increases under inflammatory
conditions, is significantly reduced in Bace1 ^{fl/fl} Lyz2 Cre ^{+/WT} macrophages, and has no effect
on myelination in cKO mice
Fig. 6. Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not alter recruitment of macrophages
to the distal nerve segment post-sciatic nerve transection
Fig. 7. Lyz2 promoter-driven expression of Cre recombinase does not alter recruitment of
macrophages to the distal nerve segment 7 days post-sciatic nerve transection
Fig. 8. Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not alter the polarization state of
macrophages in the distal nerve segment 5 days post-sciatic nerve transection
Fig. 9. Phagocytosis of opsonized beads remains unaffected in peritoneal macrophages with
macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 in vitro
Fig. 10. Summary of results of macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 in injured nerves of
adult mice and in vitro phagocytosis assay55

Chapter 1: Introduction

Introduction

The peripheral nervous system has limited capacity for regeneration in response to injury. However, this level of regeneration is still insufficient to restore full function and mitigate morbidity and disability in humans. Following peripheral nerve injury, extensive coordination of several different cell types is required for the degeneration and subsequent regeneration of the peripheral nerve, beginning with the breakdown of axons and myelin sheaths into amorphous debris. Next, in order to create a microenvironment conducive to axonal regeneration, macrophages are recruited from the circulation to the distal nerve segment to clear this cellular debris and promote axonal regeneration through the release of neurotrophic factors. While neurons and Schwann cells play a critical role in the regeneration process, the focus will be on the role of macrophages, how they interact with the other cells of the injured nerve microenvironment and how inhibition of BACE1 may play a role in modulating these interactions.

Beta-Site Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP) Cleaving Enzyme 1, also known as β -Secretase (BACE1) has been extensively studied for its role in Alzheimer's disease. Cleavage of APP by BACE1 and subsequent cleavage by γ -secretase leads to the generation of A β peptides that form A β plaques that are a pathological hallmark of Alzheimer's disease. In addition to this role in disease, BACE1 activity is involved in other biological processes. The genetic deletion or pharmacological inhibition of BACE1 results in increased recruitment of macrophages and subsequent cellular debris clearance in the distal nerve segment (*1*). While this phenotype has shown to promote axonal regeneration, little is known about the underlying mechanism of this enhanced recruitment and debris clearance. The major cell types that comprise the microenvironment of the injured peripheral nerve and could be mediating this phenotype are neurons, Schwann cells, and hematogenous infiltrating macrophages but the relative contributions of each remain unknown. In order to elucidate a potential mechanism, it would be most prudent to start with possible signaling pathways that contain currently known BACE1 substrates that have immunomodulatory capacity. The focus of this review will be the role of macrophages in peripheral nerve injury, how BACE1 modulates macrophage behavior, and discuss known BACE1 substrates that have immunomodulatory capacity.

Fig 1. Sequence of events post-nerve injury

A motor neuron (left) innervates muscle tissue (right) via axon myelinated by Schwann cells (center). After sustaining an injury, the distal nerve segment will degenerate into amorphous debris. Hematogenous macrophages (green) are recruited from circulation and enter the distal stump. Macrophages make the microenvironment more permissive for axonal regeneration by clearing cellular debris and releasing cytokines and neurotrophic factors. Axons regenerate with the guidance of Schwann cells and the aid of macrophages via neurotrophic factors and the elimination of debris which poses a physical barrier and inhibitory signaling to the regenerating axon.



Degeneration following injury

Upon injury of a nerve there is initially a lag period before the segment of nerve distal to the site of injury begins to degenerate (2). The initial step of this process is a flux of extracellular Ca^{2+} to the inside of the axon (3). The depletion of extracellular calcium or blockage of Ca^{2+} ion channels can attenuate the degeneration of axons for up to 4 days (2). The effectiveness of channel blockage to delay degeneration illustrates that this process is related to the activity of calcium channels as opposed to Ca^{2+} flux that is the result of a compromised axonal membrane (2). Further, the proximal stump undergoes the same disruption during injury but this segment will not degenerate as the distal segment does (2). A consequence of this calcium flux is the activation of calpains, a family of proteases that are known to cleave cytoskeletal proteins such as neurofilament (2, 4–6).

Great advancement into the mechanisms of Wallerian degeneration have emerged from the discovery of the C57BL/*Wld*^s mouse, a spontaneous mouse mutant that exhibits very slow Wallerian degeneration (7). Wallerian degeneration refers to the breakdown and granular disintegration of the distal nerve stump following axonal injury (8, 9). *Wld*^s is a fusion protein that has the enzymatic activity of nicotinamide mononucleotide adenylyltransferase (NMNAT) and a modified N-terminal sequence that results in the relocation of the protein to the cytoplasm of axons (10-12). NMNAT2 is actively transported from the cell body and catalyzes the formation of nicotinamide adenine dinucleotide (NAD+) from nicotinamide mononucleotide (NMN) (13, 14). Once an axon is severed this transport is blocked and due it it's short half-life NMNAT2 rapidly degrades, resulting in decreasing NAD+ levels and rising NMN levels. This leads to axonal disintegration that can be prevented by the addition of exogenous NAD+ (15). It has been proposed that Wld^s is able to protect axons due to its axonal localization and increased stability compared to NMNAT2, allowing the continued synthesis of NAD+, delaying Wallerian degeneration (13, 16). Interestingly, there is evidence that degeneration can be promoted by the accumulation NMN as opposed to depletion of NAD+ as illustrated by the axonal protection when NMN-synthesizing enzyme inhibitors are used despite the downstream reduction in NAD+ (14).

Further advancement came through the discovery that an equivalently robust blockage of Wallerian degeneration could be achieved through the deletion of Toll-like receptor adaptor protein Sterile alpha and TIR motif containing 1 (SARM1)(17). This provided evidence of a mechanism of Wallerian degeneration that was driven by normal biology rather than the result of a mutated fusion protein. SARM1 deletion can also rescue the axonal degeneration resulting from loss of NMNAT2 without reducing NMN (18), suggesting SARM1 plays a role in previously known pathways discovered in *Wld*^s mice (19). SARM1 and NMN appear to be required for generating a flux of extracellular Ca²⁺ in response to injury, which could drive calcium dependent effectors suggested by (2).

The process of axonal degeneration likely plays a role on the modulation of Schwann cells following injury through a potential injury signal or loss of axonal signaling (20). In response to injury Schwann cells will rapidly switch their transcriptional program, differentiate from a myelinating state to a repair state, and produce cytokines for the mobilization of cells of the immune system for regeneration (21–24).

Recruitment of Macrophages to the site of Injury

Monocyte differentiation and extravasation begins when inflammatory signals induce gene expression programs that allow increase expression of adhesion molecules to promote the binding of endothelial cells by monocytes to begin rolling and extravasation (*25*). Correlating with the arrival of macrophages, the blood nerve barrier will become permeabilized to allow greater influx of hematogenous leukocytes into the distal nerve segment (*26*, *27*). Macrophages begin to infiltrate into the distal segment after 3 days, peak around 6 days, and persist in large numbers for at least 14 days (*28*).

To date several cytokines and chemokines have demonstrated a role in macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nerve, including Tumor Necrosis Factor α (TNF α), interleukin-1 α (II-1 α), interleukin-1 β (II-1 β), C-C motif chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2), leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), and pancreatitis-associated protein III (PAP-III) (21–24, 29–31). In experiments where these cytokines are disabled, macrophage recruitment is attenuated to varying degrees but the loss of any single molecule does not completely block recruitment (22). While the reduction of any cytokine or chemokine individually will not completely abrogate the recruitment of macrophages, it does illustrate that this is a robust response that is the result of mobilization through multiple pathways (21).

In addition to chemoattractant proteins produced by constituent cells in the nerve for the purpose of recruitment of hematogenous leukocytes, there is also evidence of humoral components of the immune system taking part in recruitment. Complement is a humoral component of the innate immune system that is able to opsonize and begin a cascade of proteolytic cleavage of complement proteins to act as chemoattractants and mediators of inflammation. Complement is able to recognize external and internal danger signals in three ways. The cleavage cascade can start with the recognition of bound antibodies, recognition of mannose-binding lectins, and spontaneous binding and activation in the absence of inhibitory signals (32). In co-culture experiments with macrophages and degenerating nerves there is a reduction in the ability for macrophages to invade the nerve when complement is depleted (33). This reduced recruitment effect is also observed in vivo in mice that have been depleted of complement by cobra venom factor (34). There is also evidence that some of these receptors have functional overlap, playing a role in recruitment and phagocytosis. In addition to complement, the scavenger receptor may also play a role in the recruitment of macrophages as demonstrated when an anti-scavenger receptor antibody blocked recruitment of macrophages in a nerve explant co-culture experiment (35).

Observations like these highlight the interconnectedness of the inflammatory response, the various pathways involved, and the versatile nature of macrophages in this process. Macrophages are critical to the process of regeneration because when recruitment is attenuated there is reduced myelin debris clearance, axonal regeneration and functional recovery (22, 36).

Role of macrophages in cellular debris clearance

A critical component of peripheral nerve regeneration is the removal of myelin and axonal debris in the distal nerve segment. Not only is this debris a physical barrier to the regenerating nerve but the debris also contains inhibitory signaling molecules that further attenuate the regenerating axon (37-40). The bulk of this process takes within 20 days following injury in mouse models (22, 28, 41). Debris clearance largely occurs in two

phases, initially driven by endogenous Schwann cells and resident macrophages in the first 6 days and later by infiltrating hematogenous macrophages (28, 42-46).

Upon arrival into the distal nerve stump, macrophages begin phagocytosis of axonal and myelin debris. This process is, in part, driven by traditional opsonizing elements of the humoral immune system. In a study using a mouse model that lacks mature B-cells and thus cannot produce antibodies, saw attenuated clearance of myelin debris. This effect was rescued by serum or purified IgG/IgM from a donor mouse. These antibody deficient mice were also observed to have less lysozyme expression and diminished phagocytic morphology (*28*). Complement has also been shown to be an important opsonin for macrophage phagocytosis in the peripheral nerve (*33*, *34*). In the absence of complement component 3 (C3), a protein critical for complement activation, macrophages that have already invaded degenerating nerves in co-culture, display a significant reduction in phagocytosis of myelin debris (*33*).

Beyond opsonin-dependent phagocytosis of myelin debris there is also evidence of the involvement of the versatile scavenger receptor in the mediation of phagocytosis (*35*, *47*). The scavenger receptor is functionally versatile as it plays a role phagocytosis through broad extracellular milieu ligand specificity and also plays a role in the recruitment of macrophages (*35*, *48*). In a sciatic nerve explant and peritoneal macrophage co-culture experiment in which an anti-scavenger receptor antibody was used, there was a significant decrease in myelin phagocytosis. Morphological data also corroborated this effect as significantly less pseudopodia and post-phagocytic myelin was observed in these macrophages (*35*). It is not clear if any other opsonin-independent pathways are involved in the phagocytosis of cellular debris by macrophages but TAM receptor mediated

phagocytosis has been observed in Schwann cells so similar mechanisms may be relevant to macrophages (41).

Neurotrophic functionality of Macrophages

Macrophages can contribute neurotrophic signaling to the regenerating nerve in a variety of ways. Conditioned media produced by macrophages that have phagocytosed myelin debris can increase survival and neurite quantity of dorsal root ganglia neurons in culture (49). Schwann cells have a reduced capacity for phagocytosis when macrophages are depleted, this may be evidence that macrophages provide important signaling to Schwann cells in order to get them to ramp up their debris clearance mechanisms (41).

Macrophages play a critical role in sensing the hypoxic environment cause by the disruption of blood vessels. Macrophages produce vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) in response to hypoxia, stimulating polarized angiogenesis of blood vessels that form a scaffold for Schwann cells to follow in order to reach the distal nerve segment following nerve transection (*50*).

Another cohort of macrophages will persist in the distal nerve segment for at least 6 weeks following injury and provide pro-regenerative signaling molecules to the regenerating axons and Schwann cells (50, 51). These persisting macrophages aid in regulating the return of Schwann cells to a myelinating differentiation state to myelinate regenerating axons. Ablation of macrophages after a week post injury led to increased Schwann cell proliferation, a reduction in myelinated axons, and reduced recovery of compound motor action potential (CMAP) but had no effect on CMAP amplitude or axonal regrowth (51). An unbiased sequencing approach led to investigation of Gas6 as a potential

mediator of this phenotype and found that in a bone marrow transplant experiment with Gas6 KO mice that there was altered remyelination, specifically in regard to internodal length (51).

Macrophages are involved in a heavily regulated remodeling process of the extracellular matrix (ECM). This process involves delicate balance of enzymes involved in digestion of ECM components, known as matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs), and their inhibitory counterparts (*52*). The degenerating nerve basement membrane must be permeable enough to allow the influx of hematogenous macrophages but must remain intact to provide benefits to the regenerating axon. The basement membrane provides a niche in which the Schwann cells can proliferate and await the regenerating axon to remyelinate it (*52*, *53*).

Following injury, macrophages will not only recruit to the site of injury but they will also recruit and associate with injured neuronal cell bodies in dorsal root ganglia (DRG) (54). The DRG infiltrating macrophages will arrive after 48 hours and will persist for at least 28 days (54–56). In Ccr2 KO mice this infiltration is abolished which suggests that Ccl2 is critical for the recruitment of macrophages to DRGs containing cell bodies of injured axons (55). These macrophages seem to have neurotrophic effect, demonstrated when their recruitment to DRGs is blocked, there is attenuation the enhanced regenerative capacity of axons that had sustained a conditioning lesion in several models (56). A conditioning lesion will normally activate neuronal regeneration associated gene programs that will reduce the latency time for axonal regeneration if there is a second insult. Macrophages localized here also express CD206 which is an anti-inflammatory marker in

macrophages which may suggest that these DRG interfacing macrophages exhibit a proregeneration polarization state (55).

Beta Secretase

BACE1 is a well-studied enzyme in the field of Alzheimer's disease. However, this enzyme's promiscuous substrate specificity results in potential roles in multiple processes beyond the pathology of Alzheimer's disease. This enzyme is a transmembrane aspartyl protease that is a critical participant in the cleavage of Amyloid Precursor Protein (APP) and generation of $A\beta$ plaques, one of the pathological hallmarks of Alzheimer's disease. Initially BACE1 will cleave APP on the luminal side of the cell membrane, releasing a large soluble ectodomain and leave behind the remaining truncated transmembrane and intracellular domains. This cleavage event is the rate limiting step in the generation of $A\beta$ fragments. Subsequent cleavage by gamma secretase in the transmembrane domain will generate the Aß fragment and APP intracellular domain (57). BACE1 substrates are mostly type 1 transmembrane proteins however, there are exceptions like St6gal, which is a type 2 transmembrane protein (58). Its broad substrate specificity has led to the discovery of over 60 known substrates of BACE1. Thus far BACE1 has been found to have the highest expression in brain and the pancreas, although they have high and low enzymatic activity in each, respectively (59). Expression is present in other peripheral tissues but only very low amounts. Genetic and pharmacological manipulation of BACE1 has revealed several phenotypes that are of particular interest to the process of peripheral nerve regeneration. Investigation of these phenotypes thus far has centered on the same principal components

of nerve regeneration, intrinsic neuronal regeneration capacity, inhibitory debris clearance, and pro-regeneration effects of Schwann cells.

BACE1 KO neurons have a greater capacity for regeneration than their wild type counterparts. While BACE1 KO mice do not experience shortened latency before axonal regeneration begins, they do grow more rapidly once regeneration begins after 2 days. This latency can be shortened with a conditioning lesion in BACE1 KO mice but it does not improve upon the conditioning lesion response seen in WT mice. By day 3 following a crush injury, BACE1 KO axons grow significantly further distally than WT and this difference increases over longer time points. Not only do the axons grow more rapidly, but there is also a greater number of regenerating axons in the BACE1 KO. This improvement in regeneration results in greater reinnevation of neuromuscular junctions (NMJs) as early as 10 days post injury (1). BACE1 also plays a role in the regulation of Schwann cells. In BACE1 KO mice, peripheral nerves are hypomyelinated which is likely due to dysregulation of neuregulin 1 type III, a known BACE1 substrate that plays a role in the myelination of axons (60, 61). While reduced BACE1 activity has a pro-regenerative effect, the opposite is true of BACE1 overexpression. Overexpression of human BACE1 in neurons of transgenic mice results in decreased axonal regeneration, reduced NMJ reinnervation, and impaired functional recovery following crush injury (62). There was no effect on myelination observed when BACE1 is overexpressed in neurons (62).

In BACE1 KO mice there is an increase in macrophages that are recruited to the distal nerve segment following nerve injury. While these macrophages do not appear to arrive any earlier than expected, they do so in greater populations. In vivo morphological data suggests that BACE1 KO macrophages are more phagocytically active, as evidenced

by an increase in the number of macrophages with a myelin-laden foamy appearance. This increased phagocytosis is also observed in vitro when primary mouse intraperitoneal macrophages are exposed to mouse gamma globulin opsonized polystyrene beads. This increased in vitro phagocytosis may lead to increased axonal debris clearance in vivo, observed as diminished YFP fluorescence following nerve injury in a mouse line that expresses YFP in a subset of axons (1). It is unclear if these macrophages are able to clear cellular debris more efficiently than WT counterparts because BACE1 KO mouse axons are hypomyelinated, making direct comparison more challenging (63, 64). The improved clearance of axonal debris may be the result of the hypomyelination phenotype leading to less debris to be cleared by macrophages overall. At this time it is unclear of whether BACE1 activity modulates macrophages directly or indirectly.

In order to begin to determine the mechanisms of this phenotype, a critical step is to determine what the consequences are of reduced BACE1 activity in the various cell types of the regenerating nerve microenvironment. A nerve grafting experiment was done where BACE1 KO or WT sciatic nerves were grafted into a recipient sciatic nerve, essentially flanking the donor graft both proximally and distally with host nerve tissue. Interestingly there was increased axonal growth when WT graft was placed into BACE1 KO host but not vice versa (1). This suggests that the BACE1 activity status of the recipient is more important than that of the donor. The likely cell types mediating this recipient effect are the neurons and/or macrophages. Neuronal cell bodies are located proximal to the graft tissue and macrophages are recruited from recipient circulation. The graft tissue illustrates the role of BACE1 activity on Schwann cells in this phenotype. This experiment suggests that BACE1 activity doesn't have a strong effect on Schwann cells in promoting a permissive environment for regeneration (1). After 7 days post sciatic nerve transection Tumor Necrosis Factor Receptor 1 (TNFR1) expression was nearly doubled in sciatic nerves of BACE1 KO mice. This increased expression was also observed in mice that received BACE1 KO donor marrow in a bone marrow transplant experiment. At this time it is unclear whether this is an upregulation of TNFR1, the result of increased macrophage recruitment, or a combination of both due to the loss of BACE1 activity (*65*).

BACE1 Substrates with immunomodulatory potential

Interleukin 1 receptor 2 (II1-R2)

Interleukin 1 is a potent and highly regulated pro-inflammatory cytokine. It exists as a family of ligands with agonist activity and receptor antagonists that bind to a family of receptors and accessory proteins as reviewd by (*66*). For the purposes of this review the focus will be on IL-1 α and IL-1 β ligands and their receptors. Both ligands are synthesized as pro-cytokines and must be cleaved in order to become more active and bind the Interleukin-1 receptor. However, the way each ligand is activated through cleavage and released from cells is markedly different (*67*). Il-1 α and Il-1 β both bind Il1-R1 which provides route of common regulation between the two ligands. Regulation of Il1-R1 occurs through the decoy receptor, Interleukin 1 receptor 2 (Il-1R2), and soluble receptor antagonist, Interleukin 1 receptor antagonist (Il-1RA). Despite the commonality of their regulatory components evidence suggests that Il-1 α and Il-1 β have different activities and effects (*67*, *68*).

Il-1 α is a dual function cytokine with functionality in both its pro-form as a regulator of transcription and its cleaved form which is an inflammatory mediator (69). It

has intracellular activity as a transcriptional regulator in addition to being released from necrotic cells to act as a damage associated molecular pattern (DAMP) to cells bearing the Il-1 receptor (Il-1R1) and Interleukin-1 receptor accessory protein (Il-1RAcP) (67, 70, 71). However, Il-1a is sequestered in nuclear foci under apoptotic conditions instead of being released into the milieu where it can induce an inflammatory response. When apoptotic cells are placed in matrigel, there is no recruitment of myeloid cells. In contrast, where robust infiltration of myeloid cells is observed when necrotic cells were embedded in matrigel (68, 69). Il-1 α can induce sterile inflammation while in the pro-form but its potency is increased by proteolytic processing. Its affinity for Il-1R1 can be increased by proteolytic cleavage into its mature form by leukocyte derived enzymes in the extracellular milieu such as granzyme B, chymase and neutrophil elastase (72, 73). If there is sufficient Ca^{2+} flux in a cell as a result of signaling processes or cell membrane damage, Il-1 α can be cleaved by intracellular calpain into its active form (67, 74, 75). Mature II-1 α can induce a range of responses in different cells types including leukocyte recruitment, maturation, differentiation, proliferation, and inflammasome priming (66).

Unlike II-1 α , II-1 β is not constitutively expressed and requires a priming signal for the cell to begin producing it to further the inflammatory response. Pro-II-1 β is expressed in macrophages in response to a priming signal in the form of II-1 α and other NF- $\kappa\beta$ activating pathways, such as TLRs or TNFR (76, 77). Once the cell receives a second activating signal, pro-II-1 β is cleaved into its active form by either Caspase-1 or Caspase-8. Caspase-1 dependent pro-II-1 β cleavage is the result of a signal that triggers the assembly of the inflammasome, which cleaves pro-Caspase-1 into its active form that results in cleavage, maturation, and release of pro-II-1 β from the cell (67, 68, 78). Il-1R2 is a decoy receptor for both Il-1 α and Il-1 β that can negatively regulate Il-1 signaling in both cells expressing this decoy receptor and cells exposed to the secreted (sIl-1R2) or shed shIl-1R2) forms of the receptor. When located on the plasma membrane Il1-R2 will complex with Il-1RAcP and act as a non-signaling binding partner for Il-1 at the cell surface. This relationship with Il-1RAcP also allows Il-1R2 to act as a sink for the necessary accessory protein for Il-1R1 and further negatively regulate Il-1 signaling (*79*, 80). A cytosolic form of Il-1R2 (icIl1-R2) can also bind Il-1 α intracellularly and prevent maturation of Il-1 α (81). In addition to these forms of Il-1 cis-regulation, there is also transregulation mediated by the shed and secreted soluble forms, that can bind Il-1 before it can bind Il-1R1. Il-1R2 is primarily expressed on leukocytes but can be induced on other cell types such as keratinocytes and endothelial cells (80, 82, 83).

Although II-1 is a heavily regulated signaling pathway, cells have ways to get around II-R2 in certain circumstances. The soluble form of II-1R2 can be cleaved by caspase-1 after activation of the inflammasome (*81*). This cleavage by caspase-1 attenuates the ability of icII-1R2 to bind II-1 α , which can restore its ability to act as a DAMP. Membrane bound II-1R2 can be cleaved into shII-1R2 by different "sheddases" such as ADAM17 or BACE1 (*58*, *84*, *85*). This makes sheddases very important components to this regulatory system as they not only serve to restore cell membrane II-1R/II-1RAcP function, but also may be important for generating shII-1R2 which can bind extracellular II-1 α and II- β attenuate signaling. This opens the possibility of a context dependent pleotropic role for sheddases, like BACE1, in the regulation of the II-1 signaling pathway could have implications for the immunomodulatory phenotype observed in the injured peripheral nerve of BACE1 KO mice. In the context of sterile inflammation both II-1 ligands play significant roles. II-1 α is most influential as a DAMP at the initiation of inflammation. II-1 β is more important in its role of macrophage recruitment and phagocytic activity (22). Further, in the context of hypoxic sterile inflammation II-1 α is released from dying cells, recruits neutrophils to the site, and II-1 β recruits and retains macrophages (68). Similarly, following nerve injury the blood vessels are disrupted and cells are capable of sensing the hypoxic environment and altering their expression profile accordingly (50). The nature of macrophages in peripheral nerve regeneration appears to be pleotrophic, perhaps reflecting the waves of cytokines and cell types associated with injury. An acute highly regulated inflammatory response followed by a shift to an anti-inflammatory pro-regenerative phenotype (86).

Il-1 plays an important role in peripheral nerve regeneration. Following an injury of the peripheral nerve there is rapid and robust induction of IL-1 β expression in a small population of cells near the site of injury (22). This change occurs after one hour which is nearly 12 hours prior to arrival of neutrophils and later hematogenous macrophages. Given the timing of this expression change it is unlikely to be hematogenous leukocytes, although there is a second peak of Il-1 β expression at 14 days that is likely due to influx of hematogenous macrophages (22). It is possible that these Il-1 β generating cells could be a subset of Schwann cells or fibroblasts, however, macrophages are known to express Il-1 β in response to inflammatory stimuli such as Il-1 α or other endogenous molecules released into extracellular space. Resident macrophages account for approximately 10% of all nucleated cells in uninjured nerves (45, 87, 88) so the sparsity of cells that are heavily expressing Il-1 β would make these cells a likely source, although expression of Il-1 β has also been observed in Schwann cells following injury (89). Il-1 α is constitutively expressed

in the nerve so it would be present to serve as a DAMP to prime II-1 β expression following injury. Mature II-1 β levels begin to increase after 6 hours, a two fold increase, which increases further to 10 fold by 24 hours (23, 89). This maturation mirrors the processing of pro-caspase, which suggests that this is mediated by activation of the inflammasome. Mice that have defects of II-1 signaling have impaired functional recovery compared to WT, which suggests that there is benefit to this inflammatory signaling (23). On the other hand, II-1 β also plays a role in neuropathic pain as the result of inflammation. II-1 β /TNF α double knockout mice have reduced mechanical allodynia but also display evidence of impaired functional recovery (23). However, depletion of neutrophils, as opposed to blockage of cytokine signaling, improved neuropathic pain thresholds and restored functional recovery to WT levels (23).

II-1R2 has been extensively studied in the context of the immune system and inflammation. BACE1 cleavage of IL1-R2 could influence many parts of this signaling pathway. BACE1 activity could boost the trans regulatory effect of II1-R2 on adjacent cells through shedding of II1-R2 into the extracellular milieu. The opposite could be true of its cis regulatory activity. Reduced BACE1 expression could lead to more II-R2 remaining on the cell surface to block that cell's ability to respond to II-1 and sinking II-1RAcP. It is not fully understood how icIL1-R2 is generated so perhaps BACE1 may play a role, given its ability to generate shIL1-R2. Increased levels of icIL-1R2 could interfere with the calpain mediated maturation of II-1 α . This would reduce the ability of cells experiencing calcium flux to be able to use II-1 α to act as a DAMP and have downstream consequences for the inflammatory process as a whole. Decreasing BACE1 expression could reduce the amount of available icII-1R2 and promote a more robust inflammatory response to injury. This

pathway is heavily regulated and has many redundancies that would limit the ability of BACE1 to have a dramatic impact on any single regulatory site, but perhaps it can influence the pathway in several different regulatory sites and drive the overall response in a proregenerative direction by leveraging the benefits of the inflammatory response, while minimizing its detrimental effects.

Optimal regeneration seems to be heavily reliant on very tight regulation of the inflammatory response following injury. If there is not enough of an inflammatory response then there is attenuated immune cell recruitment for trophic signaling and debris clearance. However, if the inflammation response is too great then there can be deleterious effects of this such as the development of neuropathic pain (23). Any alterations of the immune response for therapies will require a breadth of knowledge of how the various cell types and pathways are interconnected and influence one another to maximize the balance of repair and pain mitigation.



Fig 2. Possible regulatory mechanisms of IL-1 by BACE1 activity

II1-R2 regulation of II-1 signaling. (1) II-1 α or II-1 β binds II1-R1 and II-RAcP resulting in normal signaling. (2) II1-R2 binds II-1RAcp and either II-1 α or II-1 β but does not result in signaling. (3) II1-R2 can regulate II-1 signaling by binding II-1RAcP and which leaves it unable to complex with II-1R1 for signaling. (4) II1-R2 can be secreted or shed by cells and can bind II-1 α and II-1 β extracellularly and prevent them from binding II1-R1/II-1RAcP. (5) BACE1 is one of a few enzymes capable of cleaving II-1R2. BACE1 activity could influence the relative amounts of II-R2 present in the cell membrane or shed into extracellular space. (6) Intracellular II-1R2 can bind either pro-II-1 α and pro-II-1 β and prevent cleavage by calpain or caspase-1, respectively, for activation.

Jagged1 (Jag1)

Notch is a transmembrane protein that can be activated through ligand binding of an adjacent cell. This binding results in a conformational change in Notch that makes it more vulnerable to a series of proteolytic cleavages that release the Notch intracellular domain (NICD) into the cytoplasm where it subsequently relocates to the nucleus and activates target genes for transcription with the help of other coactivating proteins (90). This pathway does not have a mechanism for amplification so the strength of the signal is the result of the abundance of Notch receptors on the receiving cell and the amount of ligand on the sending cell. The ratio of Notch to ligand can also be an important part of the pathway's regulation. Cis inhibition of Notch occurs when a cell is expressing sufficient amounts of the ligand on its surface and that ligand binds to Notch instead the ligand from an adjacent cell (90, 91). As a result of cis inhibition the sending/receiving state of the cell can be largely determined by this receptor to ligand ratio. For example if the amount of Notch receptor is greater than the amount of ligand then that cell is likely to be a receiver, the opposite is true of cells with more ligand. Ligand binding efficiency can also provide another layer of regulation to the Notch pathway (92). Jag1 has a relatively low binding affinity Notch, yet can render a cell unresponsive to other Notch ligands with greater binding affinity, adding an additional layer of complexity to this pathway (93).

BACE1 has also been shown to have a role in regulation of the Notch signaling pathway via cleavage and shedding of Jag1 (94). In BACE1 KO mice there is an abundance of full length Jag1 in the hippocampus. This abundant Jag1 ligand results in more activated Notch that is detected via increased NCID in this region of the brain. In vitro overexpression of BACE1 causes a decrease in the amount of full length Jag1 and this

effect is reversed when cells are treated with a BACE inhibitor. BACE1 demonstrates specificity for Jag1 as it is unable to efficiently cleave its homolog Jag2. These studies suggest that BACE1 is a regulator of Notch signaling via cleavage of its substrate Jag1 (94, 95). The increased Jag1 in BACE1 KO mice causes a shift in the balance of notch and ligand resulting in a shift towards astrogenesis and away from neurogenesis in the developing brain. There is also evidence of BACE1 regulation of Notch signaling playing a role in the peripheral nerve. As mentioned previously, BACE1 KO mice have hypomyelinated axons due to the loss of BACE1 dependent neuregulin 1 signaling. Notch has been shown to enhance the sensitivity of Schwann cells to NRG-1 (96). In addition Schwann cells show increased proliferation in BACE1 KO mice (97) which suggests that it could be the result of increased Notch signaling due to the loss of BACE1 regulation of Jag1. BACE1 KO mice have increased full length Jag1 and Delta1 and downstream NICD in sciatic nerves compared to WT. The addition of another Notch ligand, Delta1, as a possible BACE1 substrate adds to the impact that BACE1 can have on the Notch pathway (97).

In addition to development and cell fate decisions, Notch signaling plays a role in the activity of macrophages (98–101). Macrophages typically express the Notch receptor relying on cells they interface with to provide ligand stimulation. Inflammatory cytokines and several TLR agonists have been shown to increase the expression of Notch in macrophages (98). In the context of wound healing the expression of Notch by infiltrating macrophages is dynamic and can increase 5 fold 3 days after sustaining a skin wound (99). This increase in Notch expression is accompanied by an increase in inflammatory markers and this inflammation is beneficial for wound healing early on in the healing process. Diabetic mice exhibit poor wound healing in the later stages and have sustained high expression of inflammatory markers. Reducing Notch signaling in these diabetic mice improves their late wound healing, suggesting that inflammatory response is important early in the healing process but can be deleterious if it persists (99). This paradigm is similar between wound healing and nerve regeneration. Both are marked by an early inflammatory phase where debris is cleared and more inflammatory cells are recruited, followed by a later phase characterized by growth factor release and the resolution of inflammation.

Notch signaling plays a role in modulating the inflammatory response of macrophages in a variety of ways. Notch signaling has been shown to increase the translocation of NF $\kappa\beta$ to the nucleus where it can interact with NICD to boost its ability to act a transcriptional cofactor and boost the inflammatory response (98). Cells that are transfected with NICD show increased NF $\kappa\beta$ activation, particularly when in conjunction of an inflammatory stimulus such as LPS, which is an agonist of TLR4 which is one of the receptors upstream in the pathway. In an in vitro Notch activation assay, extracellular domains of Notch ligands Delta4, Jag1, and Delta1 were adhered to culture plates and macrophages were then introduced. These Notch ligands were shown to increase the expression of a downstream reporter gene in these macrophages. In another experiment macrophages that were transfected with a robust repressor of NF $\kappa\beta$ signaling, SR-I $\kappa\beta\alpha$, were unable to activate the pathway, even in the presence of NCID. This suggest that Notch signaling is not activating a parallel pathway but impacting NF $\kappa\beta$ and facilitating crosstalk between the two pathways (98). Notch also influences the phagocytic activity of macrophages by reducing the expression of SIRPa. SIRPa expressed by macrophages,

dendritic cells, and some neurons and binds CD47 to block phagocytosis. This serves as a "don't eat me" signal from host cells. The reduction of SIRP α results in loss of this signal and increases the phagocytic activity of macrophages. SIRP α activity also can attenuate the ability of macrophages to respond to inflammatory stimuli involved in polarization of macrophages toward an inflammatory phenotype. This suggests that SIRP α activity is not only important for phagocytosis but also in more broad mediation of the inflammatory response (*100*).

Given the abundance of Notch receptors and Notch ligands, it is unlikely that BACE1 would be able to have absolute regulatory control of any of these effects, but rather it could be a crucial mediator that helps tip the balance of signaling in the direction towards a pro-regenerative phenotype in the peripheral nerve.

Fig 3. Possible regulatory mechanisms of Notch signaling by BACE1 cleavage of Jag1

Jagged-1/Notch signaling and regulation in the context of BACE1 activity. A cell that is sending (Top) a Notch signal to a receiving cell (Bottom) via notch ligand Jag1. (1) Notch/Jag1 binding causes a conformational change in Notch1 which results in subsequent cleavages resulting in the release of the intracellular domain of Notch (NCID) to relocate to the nucleus and activate downstream signaling. (2) Notch signaling can be regulated by binding Jag1 on the surface of the receiving cell. (3) BACE1 can regulate Notch1 signaling via the cleavage of Jag1. This cleavage can have different effects depending on whether it is taking place on a receiving cell or sending cell. In the sending cell, BACE1 activity results in reduced Jag1 available for signaling. In the receiving cell BACE1 activity results in increased Notch1 signaling by reducing the amount of cis-regulating Jag1.


ST6 Beta-Galactoside Alpha-2,6-Sialyltransferase 1 (ST6Gal-1)

ST6gal-1 is a sialyltransferase enzyme that plays a role in the post translational modification of proteins and modification of glycolipids by catalyzing $\alpha 2,6$ sialylation of N-glycans (102-104). While this enzyme is expressed in detectable amounts in nearly every tissue at a basal level, liver cells can rapidly upregulate expression of ST6gal-1 during the inflammatory acute phase response (102). In addition to the increased expression driven by the inflammatory response there is also a proteolytic cleavage and release of ST6gal-1 into the serum (102). While this cleavage is likely a form of regulation, there is also evidence that certain cleaved forms of ST6gal-1 retain enzymatic activity. In a study of the sialylation of IgG in B cells (105) showed that when B cell ST6gal-1 was selectively ablated, there was still ST6gal-1 dependent sialylation of IgG in serum. (103) characterized an E41 cleaved form of secreted ST6gal-1 that was able to bind to an affinity column used to purify sialyltransferases, suggesting that this form retains its activity.

BACE1 has been shown to cleave ST6gal-1 in vitro and in a study of BACE1 KO mice there was a decrease in serum ST6gal-1 compared to WT. The opposite effect was observed in mice that overexpress human BACE1, which showed an increase in serum ST6gal-1 (*103*). BACE1 expression and serum ST6gal-1 levels were also shown to be increased in a rat model of hepatitis, supporting earlier studies regarding hepatic inflammation playing a role (*102*). BACE1 cleavage of ST6gal-1 results in the generation of an enzymatically active form of ST6gal-1, E41 (*103*).

BACE1 appears to play a role in the regulation of sialylation through its cleavage of ST6gal-1. This can have a range of immunomodulatory outcomes relevant to the differentiation and recruitment of macrophages to the site of injury (25, 106). The current

literature suggests that in the context of ST6gal-1, BACE1 activity is beneficial for monocyte recruitment through enhancing macrophage/endothelial cell adhesion and by promoting extravasation by increasing endothelial cell-cell adhesion (25, 106). In a study of the monocyte cell line, U937, cells showed increased binding of VCAM-1 coated plates in a monocyte $\alpha 4\beta 1$ integrin dependent manner following PMA mediated differentiation. This binding interaction of $\alpha 4\beta 1$ on monocytes to endothelial VCAM-1 is important for the trafficking of monocytes to tissues following an inflammatory response. Sialylation of β 1 integrins has been shown to be key regulator of the adhesion reaction between these adhesion molecules and VCAM-1 and fibronectin. Hyposialylated $\alpha 4\beta 1$ shows increased binding affinity for VCAM-1. Upon differentiation of monocytes by PMA there is an increased expression of BACE1 associated with macrophage activation via protein kinase C (PKC) pathway. This increased expression of BACE1 leads to increased cleavage of ST6gal-1 and hyposialylation of $\alpha 4\beta 1$. This hyposialylation and subsequent increased binding affinity correlates temporally with the activation of PKC and can be reversed when cells are treated with a BACE inhibitor (25). A different study by (106) highlighted the connection between the inflammatory response, BACE1 expression, and the modulation of cell adhesion. Treating a human monocyte cell line, THP-1 cells, with exogenous TNF α resulted in increased cell adhesion with endothelial cells in co-culture experiments. TNFa also caused a reduction in tight junction stability that was observed morphologically via electron microscopy in addition to reduced immunofluorescent VE-Cadherin staining. BACE1 expression increased in response to TNF α which in turn cause a global reduction in 2, 6 sialylation levels as observed by lectin staining and flow cytometry. This reduction in sialylation compromised endothelial cell-cell adhesion and enhanced monocyte adhesion to endothelial cells (106).

Evidence for BACE1 expression being upregulated by the inflammatory response is building as both of these experiments suggest this to be the case. While macrophage trafficking seems to be enhanced by BACE1 cleavage and downregulation ST6gal-1, another component of monocyte trafficking may be enhanced by deletion of BACE1.

Fig 4. Possible mechanisms of BACE1 regulation of ST6gal-1 and PSGL-1

Potential implications of BACE1 cleavage of ST6gal-1 and PSGL-1 on macrophage recruitment. The binding cascade leading to transendothelial migration and recruitment of leukocytes, in this case monocytes, begins with binding interactions between PSGL-1 and P-selection. These adhesion molecules disrupt flow of monocytes through the blood stream (1) by initiating the rolling and tethering to endothelial cells (2). This binding progresses until the arrest of the monocyte (3) with the addition of VCAM-1 and Integrin binding. At this point VCAM-1/Integrin binding takes over and plays a critical role through transendothelial migration (4). BACE1 cleaves ST6gal-1 resulting in decreased sialyation of $\alpha 4\beta 1$ integrin, which increases it's binding affinity to VCAM-1. Further, this hyposialyation leads to decreased endothelial cell-cell adhesion. This combination of these effects would like provide conditions more permissive to macrophage recruitment. Conversely, BACE1 cleavage of PSGL-1 would reduce the amount PSGL-1 available on the cell surface to bind with P-selectin. This would likely reduce the frequency of the initial binding reaction at the start of this cascade and thus BACE1 activity would likely attenuate macrophage recruitment.



P-Selectin Glycoprotein Ligand-1 (PSGL-1)

P-selectin is constitutively expressed by endothelial cells and leukocytes, including monocytes, express PSGL-1. Transient binding interactions between p-selectin and its ligand PSGL-1 are critical for the initial rolling and tethering of monocytes to endothelial cells during recruitment to the injured nerve (*107*). While these binding interactions are short in duration, they result in the reduced velocities of leukocytes in the blood stream. This reduced velocity facilitates increased opportunity for increasing interactions between leukocytes and endothelial cells and chemokine signaling. During the rolling phase there is increasing integrin binding between endothelial cells and monocytes, which progressively slows the monocyte leads to arrest and extravasation. This cascade of adhesion and signaling interactions results in the activation, maturation, and trafficking of macrophages (*107*).

P-selectin has been shown to play a role in the recruitment of neutrophils and macrophages to the distal segments of nerves that had sustained partial sciatic nerve ligation (*108*). P-selectin KO mice had diminished recruitment to the injury site and a reduction of inflammatory cytokines TNF α , IL-1 β , and IL-6 (*108*). This could be the result of downstream effects of inflammatory cytokines produced by cells populating the injury site, as it has been shown that IL-1 signaling results in increased expression of P-selectin by endothelial cells in mice. However, this effect has not been observed in humans.

BACE1 has been shown to cleave PSGL-1 in cell lines expressing endogenous or transfected BACE1 and no cleavage was observed in primary cells derived from BACE1 KO mice (*109*). The increased macrophage recruitment in BACE1 KO mice could be the

result of reduced cleavage of PSGL-1 on the surfaces of endothelial cells and monocytes, increasing the number of binding interactions to begin rolling and tethering.

Concluding remarks of the introduction

Regeneration following peripheral nerve injury is slow but given the critical role macrophages play in regeneration, immunomodulation of these cells may present an opportunity improve recovery and reduce morbidity associated with nerve injury. The substrate promiscuity of BACE1 could promote robust immunomodulation by acting on many pathways to alter the interactions of the various cell types in the peripheral nerve microenvironment. Further study is necessary to determine the relative contributions of each cell type in the peripheral nerve microenvironment for mediating the enhanced macrophage recruitment, particularly the phenotype observed in global BACE1 KO mice.

Chapter 2: Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not enhance macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nerve

Introduction to chapter 2

The following was published in J.A. Fissel and M.H. Farah, Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not enhance macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nerve. J. Neuroimmunol 349, 577423 (2020).

Following peripheral nerve injury, an orchestration of several different cell types contributes to the regeneration of the peripheral nerve. Initially, axons in the distal nerve segment degrade into amorphous debris (*110*). Next, myelin begins to break down and Schwann cells undergo a rapid transcriptional overhaul, modify their differentiation from a myelinating state to a repair state (*111–113*), and begin to release cytokines and chemokines to mobilize cells of the immune system for regeneration (*21, 22, 23, 24, 31*). Hematogenous macrophages are recruited to the distal nerve segment by cytokine and chemokine signaling to clear cellular debris (*21–24, 29–31*). This clearance is critical to remove a physical barrier to regenerating axons (*114*) and to eliminate the inhibitory effects of this debris (*37–40*). In addition to debris clearance, macrophages produce neurotrophic factors that further contribute to shaping a microenvironment conducive to axonal regeneration (*41, 49–51*).

Increased recruitment of macrophages and subsequent cellular debris clearance has been observed in the injured nerves of mice with genetic deletion or pharmacological inhibition of β -secretase (BACE1) (1). Currently, little is known about the underlying cellular mechanism of this enhanced recruitment and debris clearance. Neurons, Schwann cells, fibroblasts, and hematogenous infiltrating macrophages are the major cell types that comprise the microenvironment of the injured peripheral nerve and could be mediating this phenotype, but the role BACE1 expression plays in each cell type is unknown. Assessing the role of macrophages in the global BACE1 knockout (KO) mouse model has presented challenges due to the hypomyelination phenotype in these mice (1, 63, 64). This reduced myelination not only obfuscates analysis of myelin debris clearance in vivo, but also presents an alternative explanation that the enhanced recruitment and debris clearance observed in global BACE1 KO macrophages could be attributed to less myelin debris at baseline. Given that the hypomyelination phenotype is the result of signaling between axons and Schwann cells (60, 61), macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 is unlikely to result in hypomyelination and presents the opportunity to assess the relative contribution of macrophages towards the enhanced recruitment and debris clearance observed in global BACE1 KO mice. Here, we crossed a floxed Bace1 mouse and a mouse possessing Cre recombinase under control of Lyz2 promoter/enhancer elements to obtain a conditional knockout (cKO) mouse with a macrophage-specific deletion of Bace1 in order to investigate the potential role of macrophage-derived BACE1 in mediating these phenotypes.

Results

The following was published in J.A. Fissel and M.H. Farah, Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not enhance macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nerve. J Neuroimmunol 349, 577423 (2020).

BACE1 expression and activity is relatively low outside of the nervous system (*115–117*). However, considering previously published observations of improved recruitment and debris clearance by macrophages in injured peripheral nerves of global BACE1 KO mice, we sought to determine if BACE1 expression by macrophages increases in inflammatory contexts. To that end, we measured BACE1 expression in thioglycollate-activated murine peritoneal macrophages and observed an approximately ten-fold increase of BACE1 expression in macrophages that were activated by thioglycollate compared to non-thioglycollate treated controls (p = 0.0225) (Figure 1A). Considering that BACE1 expression increases in activated macrophages, we moved to assess potential effects of macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 on macrophage recruitment following peripheral nerve injury.

In order to ascertain the relative contribution of BACE1 expression by macrophages on enhanced macrophage recruitment and debris clearance phenotype, we sought to determine if macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 is sufficient to recapitulate the modulation of macrophages observed in global BACE1 KO mice. The initial step in the characterization of cKO mice was to determine if there was successful deletion of BACE1 in macrophages by assessing the expression of BACE1 in peritoneal macrophages harvested from macrophage-specific BACE1 cKO mice. Using RT-PCR we measured the expression of BACE1 in peritoneal macrophages from both cKO and heterozygous Cre expressing control mice and observed a significant reduction of approximately 80% in the cKO macrophages (p = 0.0010) (Figure 1B). We further characterized the nerves of cKO mice to determine if normal myelination of axons occurs. Given that the hypomyelination phenotype observed in global BACE1 is the result of signaling between axons and Schwann cells, we anticipated normal levels of myelination, and as expected, there was no difference in myelination between our cKO mice and Cre expressing controls as assessed by myelin thickness (p = 0.1962), myelinated axon density (p = 0.8970), and g-ratio (p = 0.2985) (Figure 1C-G).

Fig. 5. BACE1 expression in peritoneal macrophages increases under inflammatory conditions, is significantly reduced in Bace1^{fl/fl} Lyz2 Cre ^{+/WT} macrophages, and has no effect on myelination in cKO mice.

Peritoneal macrophages that are activated with thioglycollate have significantly higher expression of BACE1 mRNA compared to peritoneal macrophages that were not treated with thioglycollate (A). BACE1 mRNA expression is significantly reduced in peritoneal macrophages harvested from Bace1^{fl/fl};Lyz2 Cre ^{+/WT} mice relative to Lyz2 Cre ^{+/WT} control mice (B). N = 3 independent experiments with 3 mice for each condition/genotype, *p = 0.0225 (A), ***p = 0.0010 (B). Cross sections of uninjured sciatic nerves of Lyz2 Cre^{+/WT} (C) and Bace1^{fl/fl};Lyz2 Cre ^{+/-} (D) have comparable levels of myelinated axons. There is no significant difference in myelin thickness, p = 0.1962, (E), myelinated axon density, p = 0.8970, (F), or g-ratio, p = 0.2985, (G), (n=3). Scale bar = 20µm for (C) and (D). *J.A. Fissel and M.H. Farah, Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not enhance macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nerve. J Neuroimmunol 349, 577423 (2020).*



After validation of macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 in peritoneal macrophages, we proceeded on to assess the impact of BACE1 deletion on macrophage recruitment following peripheral nerve injury in vivo. Initial in vivo assessments were to determine if these mice have the same enhanced recruitment to distal nerve segments following sciatic nerve transection as observed in previous studies (1, 65). We measured recruitment in these mice by harvesting distal nerve segments and staining for CD68, a marker of macrophages, at 3 time points throughout the period of macrophage infiltration to the injured peripheral nerve. This dynamic period for recruitment begins at around day 3, peaks near day 7, and then persists through day 14 (28). At day 3 post-transection we observed no visible difference in the number of macrophages at an early stage of recruitment to the injured nerve (Figure 2A,B). Upon quantification of the density of macrophages in the distal nerve segments, we confirmed there was no significant difference in between the genotypes (p=0.2557) (Figure 2C). Next, at day 5 post-sciatic nerve transection we observed no difference in recruitment of macrophages to the distal nerve segment (p = 0.8511) (Figure 2D-F). Finally, we measured the number of macrophages at day 7 to see if there was increased recruitment near the peak of the response, but again there was no difference (p=0.5371) (Figure 2G-I). Additionally, we considered that there may be an immunomodulatory effect driven by the Cre recombinase itself that could be masking the recruitment phenotype in these cKO mice (118), therefore we assessed recruitment of macrophages at day 7 post-sciatic nerve transection in WT and WT Cre^{+/WT} mice. We observed no difference in the density of macrophages in the distal nerve segment, which suggests that Cre recombinase did not impact the recruitment of macrophages (p=0.5371) (Figure 3 A-C). Together, these data suggest that

macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not play a role in enhancing recruitment of macrophages to the distal nerve segment following peripheral nerve injury.

Fig. 6. Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not alter recruitment of macrophages to the distal nerve segment post-sciatic nerve transection.

Nerve sections, 20 µm thick, stained for CD68, a marker for macrophages

(A,B,D,E,G,H). Macrophages recruited to the distal nerve segments of Bace1^{fl/fl};Lyz2 Cre ^{+/WT} mice (B,E,H) and Lyz2 Cre ^{+/WT} control mice (A,D,G) at 3 (A,B), 5 (D,E), and 7 (G,H) days post-sciatic nerve transection. Quantification of macrophage density in the distal nerve segment post-sciatic nerve transection (C,F,I). There were no significant differences between genotypes at 3 days (C), p = 0.2557, 5 days (F), p = 0.8511, and 7 days (I), p = 0.5371. Values are mean \pm SD (C,F,I). For comparisons at 3 days (n=3) per genotype, at 5 days (n=5) for Bace1^{fl/fl};Lyz2 Cre^{+/WT} and (n=4) for Lyz2 Cre^{+/WT}, and at 7 days (n=4) per genotype. Scale bar = 100µm. *J.A. Fissel and M.H. Farah, Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not enhance macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nerve. J Neuroimmunol 349, 577423 (2020).*





Fig. 7. Lyz2 promoter-driven expression of Cre recombinase does not alter recruitment of macrophages to the distal nerve segment 7 days post-sciatic nerve transection.

Nerve sections, 20µm thick, stained for CD68, a marker for macrophages (A,B). Macrophages recruited to the distal nerve segments of WT Lyz2 $Cre^{+/WT}$ (A) and WT (B) mice at 7 days post-sciatic nerve transection. Quantification of macrophage density in the distal nerve segment 7 days post-sciatic nerve transection (C). There was no significant difference between genotypes (n = 4), p = 0.5371, values are mean ± SD. Scale bar = 100µm. *J.A. Fissel and M.H. Farah, Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not enhance macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nerve. J Neuroimmunol 349, 577423 (2020).* Next, we sought to determine if reduction of BACE1 could modulate the behavior of infiltrating macrophages. Over the course of the nerve injury, the polarization state of macrophages transitions from a pro-inflammatory M1 polarization to a pro-regeneration M2 polarization (*89*, *119*, *120*). This transition is beneficial as M2 macrophages have been associated with improved peripheral nerve regeneration (*121–123*). With this in mind, we assessed whether cKO mice have an increased abundance of macrophages that have transitioned to an anti-inflammatory/pro-repair M2 phenotype. To gauge the level of M2 polarization, we determined what percentage of CD68+ cells in the peripheral nerve were also positive for CD206, a marker of M2 polarization. There was no difference in the percentage of macrophages that were CD206+ between cKO mice and Cre expressing controls at day 5 post-transection (p = 0.3196) (**Figure 4A-C**).



Fig. 8. Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not alter the polarization state of macrophages in the distal nerve segment 5 days post-sciatic nerve transection. Merged images of 20 μ m thick nerve sections stained for a marker for macrophages (CD68, green) and a marker for M2 macrophage polarization (CD206, red) (A,B). Double positive cells appear as yellow. Populations of CD68+ macrophages that are positive for CD206 in the distal nerve segments of Bace1^{fl/fl};Lyz2 Cre^{+/WT} mice (B) and Lyz2 Cre^{+/WT} control mice at 5 days post-sciatic nerve transection (A). Quantification of the percentage of CD68+ macrophages that are also CD206+ 5 days post-sciatic nerve transection (C). There was no significant difference between genotypes (n = 3), p = 0.3196, values are mean ± SD. Scale bar = 100 μ m. *J.A. Fissel and M.H. Farah, Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not enhance macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nerve. J Neuroimmunol 349, 577423 (2020).*

After observing no differences in the recruitment and polarization of macrophages in cKO mice, we investigated if there was an enhanced capacity for phagocytosis in

macrophages harvested from these mice. In previous work we have observed enhanced debris clearance in global BACE1 KO mice as demonstrated by increased phagocytosis of antibody opsonized polystyrene beads and by the observation of reduced axonal debris 7 days post-axotomy (*1*). To assess if BACE1 cKO mice have the same enhanced phagocytic activity of global BACE1 KO mice, we used an opsonized polystyrene bead phagocytosis assay similar to a previous study (*1*). Using this assay we did not see any difference between the number of beads phagocytosed by cKO mice and WT Cre expressing control mice (Figure 5A-C).

Fig. 9. Phagocytosis of opsonized beads remains unaffected in peritoneal macrophages with macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 in vitro.

Bright field images of cultured Lyz2 $Cre^{+/WT}$ control (A) and Bace1^{fl/fl};Lyz2 $Cre^{+/WT}$ (B) peritoneal macrophages incubated with mouse gamma globulin opsonized, 3µm diameter polystyrene beads. Quantification of the number of beads phagocytosed per macrophage harvested from Bace1^{fl/fl};Lyz2 $Cre^{+/WT}$ mice and Lyz2 $Cre^{+/WT}$ control mice after 5 min incubation with opsonized beads (C). N = 3 independent experiments with 3 mice per genotype, p > .1 for all pairs. Values are mean ± SD. Scale bar = 100µm. *J.A. Fissel and M.H. Farah, Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not enhance macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nerve. J Neuroimmunol 349, 577423 (2020).*





Summary of chapter 2

In this chapter, we determined that there was no difference in macrophage recruitment to the distal nerve segments in mice at 3, 5, and 7 days post-transection between the macrophage-specific BACE1 cKO mice and Cre expressing controls in the injured peripheral nerve. Further, there was no difference in the polarization state of macrophages in the injured peripheral nerve or phagocytic activity of macrophages in vitro (*124*).

Chapter 3: Conclusions

Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not enhance macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nerve

The following was published in J.A. Fissel and M.H. Farah, Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not enhance macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nerve. J Neuroimmunol 349, 577423 (2020).

A previous bone marrow transplantation experiment provided some evidence that the immunomodulatory phenotype of macrophages in global BACE1 KO mice may be driven by BACE1 expressed by macrophages (65); however, it did not directly address the level of recruitment of macrophages nor whether other nerve resident cells could be contributing to macrophage recruitment. Additionally, there could also be a developmental effect of BACE1 expression on the phenotype of macrophages. Many of the phenotypes observed in global BACE1 KO mice (63, 64) are reduced or eliminated when BACE1 deletion is induced in adult mice (125). This could explain why we did not observe an increase in recruitment despite deletion of BACE1 in macrophages.

Although we observed no differences in macrophage recruitment to the injured distal nerve segment in a cKO model, these data provide insight into the relative contribution of BACE1 expression by macrophages towards the enhanced macrophage recruitment seen in global BACE1 KO mice. This study investigated the role of endogenous BACE1 expression by macrophages; however, neurons and Schwann cells

are known to play a large role in the peripheral nerve microenvironment and express high levels of BACE1 (64, 116, 126). This suggests that they could be driving the enhanced macrophage recruitment and debris clearance phenotype. To date, a robust array of cytokines produced in the distal nerve segment have been implicated in recruitment of macrophages to the injured peripheral nerve (21-24, 29-31). Perhaps BACE1 expression by Schwann cells in the injured nerve microenvironment plays a role in the production of these cytokines, and thus recruitment and activity of macrophages.

This study also highlights the need for further exploration into the alternative hypothesis that the enhanced recruitment and debris clearance by macrophages in global BACE1 KO mice may be driven by hypomyelination, rather than enhanced mobilization and activation of macrophages. While there is evidence of enhanced myelin and axonal debris clearance in global BACE1 KO mice, this effect being driven by hypomyelination cannot be ruled out. The observed increased debris clearance could very well be the result of reduced myelin debris at baseline. Neuregulin-1 (NRG1) KO mice display similar levels of hypomyelination as BACE1 KO mice. NRG1 is a BACE1 substrate and signaling molecule critical for myelination. The absence of NRG1 during development results in hypomyelination abnormalities when NRG1 is ablated post-development (*127*, *128*). Following peripheral nerve injury, inducible NRG1 KO mice show attenuated remyelination of axons but no difference in axonal regeneration, myelin debris clearance, or macrophage recruitment (*128*).

In summary, this study suggests that expression of BACE1 by adult macrophages may not be essential in mediating the increased macrophage recruitment to the injured distal nerve segment observed in global BACE1 KO mice. These data is limited to the role of BACE1 expression by macrophages in the context of peripheral nerve injury, but not broader immunomodulatory states. Further investigation into the expression of BACE1 by other cell types in the regenerating peripheral nerve microenvironment may answer questions posed by this study. Alternatively, future studies could be directed at testing the hypothesis that this observed phenotype is the result of the hypomyelination observed in these mice, rather than immunomodulatory effects on macrophages driven by BACE1 expression in the injured nerve microenvironment.



Fig. 10. Summary of results of macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 in injured nerves of adult mice and in vitro phagocytosis assay.

A representation of the results of chapter 2. Mouse genotypes are listed (left) along with results of in vivo (center) and in vitro (right) data. BACE1 genotype by cell type is indicated by color, orange cells have WT BACE1, purple cells have deletion of BACE1. There is no difference in macrophage recruitment to the distal nerve segment between Bace1^{fl/fl};Lyz2 Cre^{+/WT} mice and Lyz2 Cre^{+/WT} control mice following nerve injury. Bottom row summarizes previously published enhanced recruitment phenotype in global BACE1 and enhanced in vitro phagocytosis of global BACE1 KO macrophages. *J.A. Fissel and M.H. Farah, Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not enhance macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nerve. J Neuroimmunol 349, 577423 (2020).*

Results of macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 and the implications for potential immunomodulatory mechanisms of BACE1 substrates

Mice with macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 do not share the same levels of enhanced macrophage recruitment as global BACE1 KO mice (*124*). This suggests that the enhanced recruitment phenotype is mediated by other cell type(s) in the injured nerve microenvironment. As discussed in chapter 1 there are several BACE1 substrates that are known to have immunomodulatory effects, and some have been documented in the context of peripheral nerve injury. In light of the results of chapter 2 further discussion of how each of these substrates may or may not play a role is warranted.

IL-1 signaling can impact macrophages in a variety of ways. However, given the results of chapter 2, reduced BACE1 cleavage of IL-1R2 by macrophages is unlikely to play a role in enhancing macrophage recruitment to the injured nerve. Loss of BACE1 cleavage IL-1R2 could still be impacting macrophage recruitment through neurons and Schwann cells during the initial damage associated inflammatory signaling following nerve injury(*22, 23, 89*). Reduced BACE1 activity in these cells could reduce the amount of shed IL-1R2 (*58, 84, 85*) released into the extracellular milieu that, in the presence of BACE1 activity, could bind Schwann cell derived IL-1 in this space and prevent IL-1 signaling, thus loss of BACE1 could increase inflammatory signaling. While it is understood that BACE1 activity likely plays a role in the extracellular shedding of IL-1R2, it is not well understood if it plays a role in the generation of intracellular IL-1R2. If BACE1 can alter levels of intracellular IL-1R2 then this would provide another potential avenue for reduced BACE1 activity to play a role in DAMP signaling in neurons and Schwann cells.

The results of chapter 2 may also change how Notch signaling could be playing a role in global BACE1 mice. BACE1 is known to be expressed by neurons and Schwann cells and there is evidence that it plays a role in the regulation of Notch signaling through cleavage of Jag1(94). In the absence of BACE1 cleavage there would be an excess of Jag1 on the cell surface of neurons and Schwann cells that may result in increased signaling with macrophage derived Notch (98, 99). There is evidence that this results in an increase of inflammatory markers in macrophages . This increased inflammation could result in the enhanced recruitment and debris clearance seen in global BACE1 KO mice.

BACE1 activity has been shown to enhance binding of macrophages to adhesion molecules associated with endothelial cells in vitro and could potentially benefit trafficking and recruitment through cleavage of ST6gal-1 (*25*, *106*). Under inflammatory conditions macrophages upregulate BACE1 cleavage of ST6gal-1 and increase the binding affinity for VCAM-1 in vitro (*25*). There is also evidence that BACE1 activity decreases endothelial cell-cell binding affinity through cleavage of ST6gal-1 (*25*). Given that the effects of BACE1 activity seem to be beneficial in the context of ST6gal-1 perhaps the role of this substrate would be buoyed by further studies into the possibility that the enhanced recruitment and debris clearance in BACE1 global KO mice is the result of hypomyelination.

Finally, PSGL-1's possibilities for playing a role in the immunomodulatory phenotype of global BACE1 KO mice become increasingly unlikely. PSGL-1 is expressed by macrophages and binds p-selectin on endothelial cells to initiate the adhesion cascade resulting in rolling, tethering, and arrest during trafficking from the bloodstream (107). With loss of BACE1 activity there should be a greater abundance of PSGL-1 on the surface of macrophages that would be able to bind p-selectin and increase trafficking from the bloodstream and recruitment to the injured nerve (*108*). While any role for PSGL-1 cannot be ruled out, it is unlikely to be a primary driver of this phenotype.

While none of these substrates can be ruled out by the results of chapter 2, it does provide some insight into which mechanisms may be more important to the BACE1 KO macrophage phenotype. This phenotype is likely a combination of many different mechanisms, in different cell types, working together to produce this response to nerve injury.

Final Conclusion

This thesis demonstrates that macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 has no effect on the recruitment of macrophages to the injured peripheral nerve of adult mice following injury. Further research into the potential effects of cell type specific deletion of other constituent cells of the injured nerve microenvironment is warranted. Alternatively, further study into the hypothesis that this enhanced recruitment and activity of macrophages may be due to hypomyelination in global BACE1 KO mice is also merited. Further assessment of potential roles of BACE1 substrates IL-1R2, Jag-1, ST6gal-1, and PSGL-1 in the injured nerve would also provide insight into potential mechanisms of this phenotype in global BACE1 KO mice. Further, interrogating each cell type in the peripheral nerve micro environment with cell type specific deletion of BACE1 could also help guide future inquiries into which BACE1 substrates are likely to be mediating this phenotype.

Chapter 4: Methods

Animals

Conditional knockout mice were on a C57BL/6 background and bred by crossing floxed *Bace1* mice, C57BL/6-*Bace1*^{tm1.1mr1} (Taconic Biosciences, Rensselaer, NY, USA) (*129*), with mice expressing Cre recombinase under control of *Lyz2* promoter/enhancer elements, B6.129P2-*Lyz2*^{tm1(cre)Ifo} (The Jackson Laboratory, Bar Harbor, ME, USA). Macrophage-specific cKO mice were homozygous for the floxed *Bace1* allele and heterozygous for Cre recombinase (Bace1^{fl/fl};Lyz2 Cre^{+/WT}). Control mice were C57BL/6 wild type (WT) mice that were heterozygous for Cre recombinase (*Lyz2* Cre^{+/WT}). A total of 79 mice between 10-16 weeks old were used in this study. Roughly equal amounts of male and female mice were used in this study as there was no significant difference between male and female in BACE1 expression, macrophage recruitment, or macrophage activity. The animal surgeries and experimental protocols were approved by the Animal Care and Use Committee of the Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine.

Peritoneal macrophage harvest and culture

Mice were killed by CO₂ asphyxiation, and a small incision in the skin was made to expose the peritoneum. 5 mL of cold Gibco® RPMI 1640 media (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) with 10% Gibco® fetal bovine serum (FBS) (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and 1% penicillin-streptomycin was injected into the peritoneal cavity and gently massaged for 15 seconds. RPMI was aspirated with a syringe until approximately 2 mL of media was recovered. To collect the remaining media, a small incision was then made in the peritoneal membrane and media was aspirated by transfer pipet (*130*). Cells were then spun at 250 X g for 10 min, resuspended and counted. Approximately 60,000 cells/well were seeded onto glass coverslips in 24 well plates for phagocytosis assays, and $2x10^6$ cells/well were seeded into 6 well plates for expression analysis. These cells were then incubated at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for 1 h to allow peritoneal macrophages to adhere to the cell culture dish. Following incubation, wells were washed to remove contaminating cells, leaving behind adhered macrophages. Cells were then either immediately used for expression analysis or incubated 24 h prior to phagocytosis assays. Mice used for macrophage BACE1 expression analysis in an inflammatory context were treated by injection of 1 mL of 3% Brewer thioglycollate medium (Millipore Sigma, Burlington, MA, USA) into the peritoneal cavity 4 days prior to harvest.

RT-PCR

Total RNA was extracted from peritoneal macrophages from each mouse with *Quick*-RNA Miniprep Kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA, USA) then cleaned and concentrated (RNA Clean & Concentrator-25, Zymo Research, Irvine, CA, USA). Quality and concentration of RNA was determined by Nanodrop. One microgram of RNA was added to each reaction, and a cDNA library was reverse transcribed for each of the samples using Invitrogen SuperScript III first-strand synthesis system kit (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). The cDNA libraries were then combined with Quantitect® SYBR® Green PCR Kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD, USA). For each mouse, BACE1 and β₂ microglobulin (B2M) primers were added to separate reactions to

amplify BACE1 and B2M transcripts in the peritoneal macrophages. B2M was selected as a reference gene based on reports of improved stability in macrophages in an inflammatory context (*131*). BACE1 primers were selected to have one primer binding site in exon 2, which is deleted in the presence of Cre recombinase, and another primer binding site in exon 3. The following primers were used: BACE1 primers, 5'-CCTTTCCTGCATCGCTACTAC-3' (forward); 5'-GGGCACATACACACCCTTT-3' (reverse) and B2M primers, 5'-GGGTGGAACTGTGTTACGTAG-3' (forward); 5'-TGGTCTTTCTGGTGCTTGTC-3' (reverse). Each sample was run in triplicate and analyzed by 7900HT Fast Real-Time PCR System (Applied Biosystems, Waltham, MA, USA). All values were normalized to B2M mRNA and reported as fold change from WT levels.

Sciatic nerve transection

Mice were anesthetized with 2% isoflurane (Baxter, Deerfield, IL, USA), and fur covering the skin on the left thigh was shaved with an electric hair trimmer. Mice were continuously supplied with isoflurane, and surgeries were performed under sterile conditions. A small incision was made in the skin along the thigh to expose underlying muscle and connective tissue. With surgical microscope, a small incision was made in the connective tissue at midthigh, and a surgical retractor was used to expose the nerve. Small surgical scissors were then used to transect the nerve, and the distal end was tucked away from the proximal end to prevent regeneration of the axons. The wound was then sutured closed. Distal nerve segments and uncut contralateral controls were harvested at stated time points post-surgery.

Mouse perfusion

Mice were deeply anesthetized with 10% chloral hydrate (Millipore Sigma, Burlington, MA), briefly exsanguinated with Gibco® 1x phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) solution (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA), then perfused with 2% paraformaldehyde (PFA) in 1x PBS solution for immunofluorescence and 2% PFA/2% glutaraldehyde in 1x PBS solution for light microscopy.

Myelinated axon quantification

Following perfusion, nerves were dissected out, post-fixed in 2% PFA/2% glutaraldehyde in 1x PBS solution overnight at room temperature (RT), and embedded in plastic. Nerves were then cross-sectioned at 1 µm thickness and stained for toluidine blue. Images of the nerve sections were taken at 100x magnification. Myelinated axon density was determined by counting the number of myelinated axons in a measured area (0.01mm²) using Zeiss Zen image analysis software. For the quantification of myelin thickness and g-ratio, 200 myelinated axons were analyzed for each mouse, at random, from 3 fields of view from each of 3 different cross sections. For each myelinated axon, the axon diameter and the nerve fiber diameter were determined by ImageJ 1.52a. Myelin thickness was calculated as (fiber diameter – axon diameter)/2, and g-ratio was calculated as (axon diameter/fiber diameter)(*132*).

Immunofluorescence
Following perfusion, nerves were dissected out, and 3 mm of nerve tissue at the cut end was discarded before further processing of distal nerve segment. The remaining nerve was post-fixed in 2% PFA solution overnight at RT. Nerves were then washed with 1x PBS and cryoprotected in 30% sucrose in 1x PBS overnight at 4°C. Nerve tissue was then immersed in Tissue-Tek® O.C.T. Compound, flash frozen, and sectioned longitudinally at 20 µm thickness by cryostat (Microm HM 505E). Sectioned nerves were washed in 1x PBS for 10 min at 37°C, and washed again 2 times for 10 min at RT in 1x PBS with .3% Triton X-100 (PBST) to remove O.C.T. compound and permeabilize the tissue. Sections were then blocked with PBST with 5% normal goat serum (NGS) for 1h at RT. Next, sections were incubated with PBST 1% NGS with primary antibody overnight at 4°C. Anti-CD68 (1:1000 BioLegend) antibodies were used as a marker for macrophages and anti-CD206 (1:1000 Santa Cruz) was used as a marker of M2 polarization. Nerves were then washed with 1x PBST 2 times for 15 min before incubation with appropriate secondary antibodies (Alexa Fluor 488 and Alexa Fluor 546 (Invitrogen)) diluted at 1:1000 in PBST with 1% NGS for 1h at RT. Slides were again washed twice for 15 min in PBST before mounted with Life Technologies Prolong Gold Anti-fade with DAPI (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and coverslipped. Sciatic nerves were then imaged using a Axio Imager Fluorescence Microscope (Zeiss, Oberkochen, Germany). Images used in macrophage recruitment analysis were acquired in 3D z-stacks in 2µm intervals at 20x magnification in 3 fields of view.

Quantification of immunofluorescence images

Macrophages were quantified by counting CD68+ cells using Zeiss Zen image analysis software. Individual cells were determined by DAPI staining of cell nuclei and analyzing multiple focal planes. The area of each nerve was then traced and quantified for volume calculations (*62*). Density of macrophages was calculated using the total number of macrophages and the volume of the image. M2 macrophage polarization was determined by counting all CD68+ cells and CD206+ cells in the same manner and reported as a percentage of CD68+ cells that were also positive for CD206.

Phagocytosis assay

To prepare opsonized bead solution, 3 μ m diameter polystyrene beads (Millipore Sigma, Burlington, MA, USA) were opsonized with mouse IgG (Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) during 1h incubation at 37°C. Beads were then diluted to a 10:1 ratio with peritoneal macrophages. Following 24h incubation post cell harvest, peritoneal macrophages (harvested as stated in section 2.2) were centrifuged with the opsonized bead solution for 1 min at 250 X g and incubated at 37°C for an additional 5 min. Following incubation, uningested beads were washed away with 1x PBS and the remaining macrophages were fixed with 3% PFA solution. Coverslips were then mounted and imaged with at 40x magnification in z-stacks in in 2 μ m intervals at 3 fields of view. Total cells and beads phagocytosed by each cell were counted. This was performed in 3 replicates per mouse.

Statistical analysis

Each mouse was randomly assigned a number and neither the thioglycollate treatment status nor genotype was known throughout data collection and analysis to ensure blinded analysis of the data. All statistical analysis was performed using a Student's t-test. All data analysis was performed using GraphPad Prism 8, and any value of p < 0.05 was scored as statistically significant. All graphed data was generated using GraphPad Prism 8 and presented as mean \pm standard deviation.

Figure Art

Artistic figures in chapter 1 were created with BioRender.com.

References

1. M. H. Farah, B. Pan, P. N. Hoffman, D. Ferraris, T. Tsukamoto, T. Nguyen, P. C.

Wong, D. L. Price, B. S. Slusher, J. W. Griffin, Reduced BACE1 Activity Enhances Clearance of Myelin Debris and Regeneration of Axons in the Injured Peripheral Nervous System. *The Journal of Neuroscience*. **31**, 5744–5754 (2011).

2. E. B. George, J. D. Glass, J. W. Griffin, Axotomy-induced axonal degeneration is mediated by calcium influx through ion-specific channels. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. **15**, 6445–52 (1995).

3. W. W. Schlaepfer, R. P. Bunge, Effects of calcium ion concentration on the degeneration of amputated axons in tissue culture. *J Cell Biology*. **59**, 456–470 (1973).

4. M. Ma, T. A. Ferguson, K. M. Schoch, J. Li, Y. Qian, F. S. Shofer, K. E. Saatman, R.
W. Neumar, Calpains mediate axonal cytoskeleton disintegration during Wallerian
degeneration. *Neurobiology of disease*. 56, 34–46 (2013).

5. U.-J. P. Zimmerman, W. W. Schlaepfer, Characterization of a brain calcium-activated protease that degrades neurofilament proteins. *Biochemistry* (1982),

doi:10.1021/bi00260a012.

6. J. T. Finn, M. Weil, F. Archer, R. Siman, A. Srinivasan, M. C. Raff, Evidence that Wallerian degeneration and localized axon degeneration induced by local neurotrophin deprivation do not involve caspases. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. **20**, 1333–41 (2000). 7. E. R. Lunn, V. H. Perry, M. C. Brown, H. Rosen, S. Gordon, Absence of Wallerian Degeneration does not Hinder Regeneration in Peripheral Nerve. *Eur J Neurosci.* 1, 27–33 (1989).

8. L. Neukomm, M. Freeman, Diverse cellular and molecular modes of axon degeneration. *Trends in Cell Biology* (2014), doi:10.1016/j.tcb.2014.04.003.

 A. Waller, Experiments on the Section of the Glosso-Pharyngeal and Hypoglossal Nerves of the Frog, and Observations of the Alterations Produced Thereby in the Structure of Their Primitive Fibres. *Edinburgh medical and surgical journal*. **76**, 369– 376 (1851).

 L. Conforti, A. Tarlton, T. G. A. Mack, W. Mi, E. A. Buckmaster, D. Wagner, V. H.
 Perry, M. P. Coleman, A Ufd2/D4Cole1e chimeric protein and overexpression of Rbp7 in the slow Wallerian degeneration (WldS) mouse. *Proc National Acad Sci.* 97, 11377– 11382 (2000).

11. T. G. A. Mack, M. Reiner, B. Beirowski, W. Mi, M. Emanuelli, D. Wagner, D.
Thomson, T. Gillingwater, F. Court, L. Conforti, F. S. Fernando, A. Tarlton, C.
Andressen, K. Addicks, G. Magni, R. R. Ribchester, V. H. Perry, M. P. Coleman,
Wallerian degeneration of injured axons and synapses is delayed by a Ube4b/Nmnat
chimeric gene. *Nat Neurosci.* 4, 1199–1206 (2001).

12. M. P. Coleman, L. Conforti, E. A. Buckmaster, A. Tarlton, R. M. Ewing, M. C. Brown, M. F. Lyon, V. H. Perry, An 85-kb tandem triplication in the slow Wallerian degeneration (Wlds) mouse. *Proc National Acad Sci.* **95**, 9985–9990 (1998).

 J. Gilley, M. P. Coleman, Endogenous Nmnat2 Is an Essential Survival Factor for Maintenance of Healthy Axons. *Plos Biol.* 8, e1000300 (2010). 14. M. D. Stefano, I. Nascimento-Ferreira, G. Orsomando, V. Mori, J. Gilley, R. Brown,
L. Janeckova, M. E. Vargas, L. A. Worrell, A. Loreto, J. Tickle, J. Patrick, J. R. M.
Webster, M. Marangoni, F. M. Carpi, S. Pucciarelli, F. Rossi, W. Meng, A. Sagasti, R. R.
Ribchester, G. Magni, M. P. Coleman, L. Conforti, A rise in NAD precursor
nicotinamide mononucleotide (NMN) after injury promotes axon degeneration. *Cell Death Differ.* 22, 731–742 (2015).

15. J. T. Wang, Z. A. Medress, M. E. Vargas, B. A. Barres, Local axonal protection by
WldS as revealed by conditional regulation of protein stability. *Proc National Acad Sci.*112, 10093–10100 (2015).

16. S. Milde, J. Gilley, M. P. Coleman, Subcellular Localization Determines the Stability and Axon Protective Capacity of Axon Survival Factor Nmnat2. *Plos Biol.* 11, e1001539 (2013).

17. J. M. Osterloh, J. Yang, T. M. Rooney, A. N. Fox, R. Adalbert, E. H. Powell, A. E.

Sheehan, M. A. Avery, R. Hackett, M. A. Logan, J. M. MacDonald, J. S. Ziegenfuss, S.

Milde, Y.-J. Hou, C. Nathan, A. Ding, R. H. Brown, L. Conforti, M. Coleman, M.

Tessier-Lavigne, S. Züchner, M. R. Freeman, dSarm/Sarm1 Is Required for Activation of an Injury-Induced Axon Death Pathway. *Science*. **337**, 481–484 (2012).

18. J. Gilley, G. Orsomando, I. Nascimento-Ferreira, M. P. Coleman, Absence of SARM1 Rescues Development and Survival of NMNAT2-Deficient Axons. *Cell Reports.* **10**, 1974–1981 (2015).

19. L. Conforti, J. Gilley, M. P. Coleman, Wallerian degeneration: an emerging axon death pathway linking injury and disease. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* **15**, 394–409 (2014).

20. J. Scheib, A. Höke, *Nature Reviews Neurology*, in press, doi:10.1038/nrneurol.2013.227.

21. P. Chen, X. Piao, P. Bonaldo, Role of macrophages in Wallerian degeneration and axonal regeneration after peripheral nerve injury. *Acta Neuropathol.* 130, 605–618 (2015).

22. F. E. Perrin, S. Lacroix, M. Avilés-Trigueros, S. David, Involvement of monocyte chemoattractant protein-1, macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha and interleukin-1beta in Wallerian degeneration. *Brain : a journal of neurology.* 128, 854–66 (2005).
23. S. Nadeau, M. Filali, J. Zhang, B. J. Kerr, S. Rivest, D. Soulet, Y. Iwakura, J. P. de Vaccari, R. W. Keane, S. Lacroix, Functional recovery after peripheral nerve injury is dependent on the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1β and TNF: implications for neuropathic pain. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience.* 31, 12533–42 (2011).

24. K. R. Jessen, R. Mirsky, A. C. Lloyd, Schwann Cells: Development and Role in Nerve Repair. *Cold Spring Harbor perspectives in biology*. **7**, a020487 (2015).

25. A. V. Woodard-Grice, A. C. McBrayer, J. K. Wakefield, Y. Zhuo, S. L. Bellis, Proteolytic Shedding of ST6Gal-I by BACE1 Regulates the Glycosylation and Function of α4β1 Integrins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. **283**, 26364–26373 (2008).

26. M. Gray, W. Palispis, P. P. of ..., Macrophage depletion alters the blood–nerve barrier without affecting Schwann cell function after neural injury (2007).

27. A. D. Gaudet, P. G. Popovich, M. S. Ramer, Wallerian degeneration: gaining perspective on inflammatory events after peripheral nerve injury. *Journal of neuroinflammation*. **8**, 110 (2011).

28. M. E. Vargas, J. Watanabe, S. J. Singh, W. H. Robinson, B. A. Barres, Endogenous antibodies promote rapid myelin clearance and effective axon regeneration after nerve injury. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*. **107**, 11993–11998 (2010).

29. M. Liefner, H. Siebert, T. Sachse, U. Michel, G. Kollias, W. Brück, The role of TNFα during Wallerian degeneration. *Journal of Neuroimmunology*. **108**, 147–152 (2000).

30. J. P. Niemi, A. DeFrancesco-Lisowitz, L. Roldán-Hernández, J. A. Lindborg, D.

Mandell, R. E. Zigmond, A critical role for macrophages near axotomized neuronal cell bodies in stimulating nerve regeneration. *J Neurosci Official J Soc Neurosci.* **33**, 16236–48 (2013).

31. J. A. Lindborg, M. Mack, R. E. Zigmond, Neutrophils Are Critical for Myelin Removal in a Peripheral Nerve Injury Model of Wallerian Degeneration. *Journal of Neuroscience*. **37**, 10258–10277 (2017).

32. V. Ramaglia, M. R. Daha, F. Baas, The complement system in the peripheral nerve: Friend or foe? *Molecular Immunology*. **45**, 3865–3877 (2008).

33. W. Brück, R. Friede, The role of complement in myelin phagocytosis during PNS wallerian degeneration. *Journal of the neurological sciences*. **103**, 182–7 (1991).

34. A. T. Dailey, A. M. Avellino, L. Benthem, J. Silver, M. Kliot, Complement Depletion Reduces Macrophage Infiltration and Activation during Wallerian Degeneration and Axonal Regeneration. *Journal of Neuroscience*. **18**, 6713–6722 (1998).

35. C. Costa, L. J. Laan, C. D. Dijkstra, W. Brück, The Role of the Mouse Macrophage Scavenger Receptor in Myelin Phagocytosis. *European Journal of Neuroscience*. **9**, 2650–2657 (1997).

36. A. Boivin, I. Pineau, B. Barrette, M. Filali, N. Vallières, S. Rivest, S. Lacroix, Tolllike receptor signaling is critical for Wallerian degeneration and functional recovery after peripheral nerve injury. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. **27**, 12565–76 (2007).

37. Z. Ying, C. Pan, T. Shao, L. Liu, L. Li, D. Guo, S. Zhang, T. Yuan, R. Cao, Z. Jiang,S. Chen, F. Wang, X. Wang, Mixed Lineage Kinase Domain-like Protein MLKL BreaksDown Myelin following Nerve Injury. *Molecular cell* (2018),

doi:10.1016/j.molcel.2018.09.011.

38. L. McKerracher, S. David, D. Jackson, V. Kottis, R. Dunn, P. Braun, Identification of myelin-associated glycoprotein as a major myelin-derived inhibitor of neurite growth. *Neuron.* **13**, 805–11 (1994).

39. Y. Shen, M. DeBellard, J. Salzer, J. Roder, M. Filbin, Myelin-associated glycoprotein in myelin and expressed by Schwann cells inhibits axonal regeneration and branching. *Molecular and cellular neurosciences*. **12**, 79–91 (1998).

40. M. Bähr, C. Przyrembel, Myelin from peripheral and central nervous system is a nonpermissive substrate for retinal ganglion cell axons. *Experimental neurology*. **134**, 87–93 (1995).

41. A. Lutz, W.-S. S. Chung, S. A. Sloan, G. A. Carson, L. Zhou, E. Lovelett, S. Posada,
J. Zuchero, B. A. Barres, Schwann cells use TAM receptor-mediated phagocytosis in
addition to autophagy to clear myelin in a mouse model of nerve injury. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*. 114, E8072–E8080
(2017).

42. G. Stoll, J. Griffin, C. Li, B. Trapp, Wallerian degeneration in the peripheral nervous system: participation of both Schwann cells and macrophages in myelin degradation. *Journal of neurocytology*. **18**, 671–83 (1989).

43. V. Perry, J. Tsao, S. Fearn, M. Brown, Radiation-induced reductions in macrophage recruitment have only slight effects on myelin degeneration in sectioned peripheral nerves of mice. *The European journal of neuroscience*. **7**, 271–80 (1995).

44. C. Fernandez-Valle, R. Bunge, M. Bunge, Schwann cells degrade myelin and proliferate in the absence of macrophages: evidence from in vitro studies of Wallerian degeneration. *Journal of neurocytology*. **24**, 667–79 (1995).

45. M. Mueller, K. Wacker, E. B. Ringelstein, W. F. Hickey, Y. Imai, R. Kiefer, Rapid response of identified resident endoneurial macrophages to nerve injury. *The American journal of pathology*. **159**, 2187–97 (2001).

46. B. Barrette, M.-A. A. Hébert, M. Filali, K. Lafortune, N. Vallières, G. Gowing, J.-P.

P. Julien, S. Lacroix, Requirement of myeloid cells for axon regeneration. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. **28**, 9363–76 (2008).

47. S. Rotshenker, Wallerian degeneration: the innate-immune response to traumatic nerve injury. *Journal of Neuroinflammation*. **8**, 109 (2011).

48. I. Fraser, D. Hughes, S. Gordon, Divalent cation-independent macrophage adhesion inhibited by monoclonal antibody to murine scavenger receptor. *Nature*. 364, 343 (1993).
49. N. Hikawa, T. Takenaka, Myelin-stimulated macrophages release neurotrophic

factors for adult dorsal root ganglion neurons in culture. Cellular and Molecular

Neurobiology. **16**, 517–528 (1996).

50. A.-L. Cattin, J. J. Burden, L. Van Emmenis, F. E. Mackenzie, J. Hoving, N.

Garcia Calavia, Y. Guo, M. McLaughlin, L. H. Rosenberg, V. Quereda, D. Jamecna, I. Napoli, S. Parrinello, T. Enver, C. Ruhrberg, A. C. Lloyd, Macrophage-Induced Blood Vessels Guide Schwann Cell-Mediated Regeneration of Peripheral Nerves. *Cell.* **162**, 1127–39 (2015).

51. J. Stratton, A. Holmes, N. L. Rosin, S. Sinha, M. Vohra, N. E. Burma, T. Trang, R. Midha, J. Biernaskie, Macrophages Regulate Schwann Cell Maturation after Nerve Injury. *Cell reports*. 24, 2561-2572.e6 (2018).

52. M. Fleur, J. L. Underwood, D. A. Rappolee, Z. Werb, Basement Membrane and Repair of Injury to Peripheral Nerve: Defining a Potential Role for Macrophages, Matrix Metalloproteinases, and Tissue Inhibitor of Metalloproteinases-1. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*. **184**, 2311–2326 (1996).

53. C. Giannini, P. Dyck, The fate of Schwann cell basement membranes in permanently transected nerves. *Journal of neuropathology and experimental neurology*. **49**, 550–63 (1990).

54. X. Lu, P. Richardson, Responses of macrophages in rat dorsal root ganglia following peripheral nerve injury. *Journal of neurocytology*. **22**, 334–41 (1993).

55. J. A. Lindborg, J. P. Niemi, M. A. Howarth, K. W. Liu, C. Z. Moore, D. Mahajan, R.E. Zigmond, Molecular and cellular identification of the immune response in peripheral ganglia following nerve injury. *Journal of Neuroinflammation.* 15, 192 (2018).

56. M. J. Kwon, J. Kim, H. Shin, S. R. Jeong, Y. M. Kang, J. Y. Choi, D. H. Hwang, B.

G. Kim, Contribution of macrophages to enhanced regenerative capacity of dorsal root

ganglia sensory neurons by conditioning injury. *The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience*. **33**, 15095–108 (2013).

57. G. Koelsch, BACE1 Function and Inhibition: Implications of Intervention in the Amyloid Pathway of Alzheimer's Disease Pathology. *Molecules*. 22, 1723 (2017).
58. B. Dislich, S. F. Lichtenthaler, The membrane-bound aspartyl protease BACE1: molecular and functional properties in Alzheimer's disease and beyond. *Frontiers in Physiology* (2012), doi:10.3389/fphys.2012.00008.

59. S. Sinha, J. P. Anderson, R. Barbour, G. S. Basi, R. Caccavello, D. Davis, M. Doan,
H. F. Dovey, N. Frigon, J. Hong, K. Jacobson-Croak, N. Jewett, P. Keim, J. Knops, I.
Lieberburg, M. Power, H. Tan, G. Tatsuno, J. Tung, D. Schenk, P. Seubert, S. M.
Suomensaari, S. Wang, D. Walker, J. Zhao, L. McConlogue, V. John, Purification and
cloning of amyloid precursor protein β-secretase from human brain. *Nature*. 402, 537–540 (1999).

60. G. V. Michailov, M. W. Sereda, B. G. Brinkmann, T. M. Fischer, B. Haug, C. Birchmeier, L. Role, C. Lai, M. H. Schwab, K.-A. Nave, Axonal neuregulin-1 regulates myelin sheath thickness. *Science*. **304**, 700–703 (2004).

61. C. Taveggia, G. Zanazzi, A. Petrylak, H. Yano, J. Rosenbluth, S. Einheber, X. Xu, R.
M. Esper, J. A. Loeb, P. Shrager, M. V. Chao, D. L. Falls, L. Role, J. L. Salzer,
Neuregulin-1 Type III Determines the Ensheathment Fate of Axons. *Neuron.* 47, 681–694 (2005).

62. C. Tallon, E. Rockenstein, E. Masliah, M. H. Farah, Increased BACE1 activity inhibits peripheral nerve regeneration after injury. *Neurobiology of disease*. 106, 147–157 (2017).

63. X. Hu, C. W. Hicks, W. He, P. Wong, W. B. Macklin, B. D. Trapp, R. Yan, Bace1 modulates myelination in the central and peripheral nervous system. *Nature neuroscience*. **9**, 1520–5 (2006).

64. M. Willem, A. N. Garratt, B. Novak, M. Citron, S. Kaufmann, A. Rittger, B.

DeStrooper, P. Saftig, C. Birchmeier, C. Haass, Control of peripheral nerve myelination by the β-secretase BACE1. *Science*. **314**, 664–666 (2006).

65. L. Liu, J. A. Fissel, A. Tasnim, J. Borzan, A. Gocke, P. A. Calabresi, M. H. Farah, Increased TNFR1 expression and signaling in injured peripheral nerves of mice with reduced BACE1 activity. *Neurobiology of Disease*. **93**, 21–27 (2016).

66. C. Garlanda, C. A. Dinarello, A. Mantovani, The interleukin-1 family: back to the future. *Immunity*. **39**, 1003–18 (2013).

67. I. S. Afonina, C. Müller, S. J. Martin, R. Beyaert, Proteolytic Processing of Interleukin-1 Family Cytokines: Variations on a Common Theme. *Immunity*. **42**, 991– 1004 (2015).

68. P. Rider, Y. Carmi, O. Guttman, A. Braiman, I. Cohen, E. Voronov, M. R. White, C.
A. Dinarello, R. N. Apte, IL-1α and IL-1β Recruit Different Myeloid Cells and Promote Different Stages of Sterile Inflammation. *The Journal of Immunology*. 187, 4835–4843 (2011).

69. I. Cohen, P. Rider, Y. Carmi, B. A. of the ..., Differential release of chromatin-bound IL-1α discriminates between necrotic and apoptotic cell death by the ability to induce sterile inflammation (2010), doi:10.1073/pnas.0915018107.

70. A. Werman, R. Werman-Venkert, R. White, J.-K. Lee, B. Wermen, Y. Krelin, E.
Voronov, C. A. Dinarello, R. N. Apte, The precursor form of IL-1α is an intracrine proinflammatory activator of transcription. *PNAS* (2004), doi:10.1073/pnas.0308705101.
71. A. Weber, P. Wasiliew, M. Kracht, Interleukin-1 (IL-1) Pathway. *Sci. Signal.* 3, cm1–cm1 (2010).

72. I. Afonina, G. Tynan, S. Logue, S. Cullen, B. M. cell, Granzyme B-dependent proteolysis acts as a switch to enhance the proinflammatory activity of IL-1α (2011).
73. E. Hayes, K. Pohl, N. McElvaney, R. E. immunologiae et, The cystic fibrosis neutrophil: a specialized yet potentially defective cell (2011).

74. L. Carruth, S. Demczuk, M. S. of Chemistry, Involvement of a calpain-like protease in the processing of the murine interleukin 1 alpha precursor. (1991).

75. Y. Kobayashi, K. Yamamoto, S. T. of the ..., Identification of calcium-activated neutral protease as a processing enzyme of human interleukin 1 alpha. (1990), doi:10.1073/pnas.87.14.5548.

M. Lamkanfi, V. M. Dixit, Mechanisms and functions of inflammasomes. *Cell.* 157, 1013–22 (2014).

77. C. A. Dinarello, Interleukin-1 in the pathogenesis and treatment of inflammatory diseases. *Blood.* **117** (2011).

78. R. N. Apte, E. Voronov, Is interleukin-1 a good or bad "guy" in tumor immunobiology and immunotherapy? *Immunological reviews*. 222, 222–41 (2008).
79. D. Neumann, C. Kollewe, M. Martin, D. Boraschi, The Membrane Form of the Type II IL-1 Receptor Accounts for Inhibitory Function. *The Journal of Immunology*. 165, 3350–3357 (2000). 80. T. Schlüter, C. Schelmbauer, K. Karram, I. A. Mufazalov, Regulation of IL-1 signaling by the decoy receptor IL-1R2. *Journal of Molecular Medicine*. 96, 983–992 (2018).

81. Y. Zheng, M. Humphry, J. J. Maguire, M. R. Bennett, M. Clarke, Intracellular
Interleukin-1 Receptor 2 Binding Prevents Cleavage and Activity of Interleukin-1α,
Controlling Necrosis-Induced Sterile Inflammation. *Immunity*. 38, 285–295 (2013).
82. R. Skinner, R. Gibson, N. Rothwell, E. Pinteaux, J. Penny, Transport of interleukin-1
across cerebromicrovascular endothelial cells. *British Journal of Pharmacology*. 156, 1115–1123 (2009).

83. C. McMahan, J. Slack, B. Mosley, C. D. EO ..., A novel IL-1 receptor, cloned fromB cells by mammalian expression, is expressed in many cell types. (1991).

84. S. Uchikawa, M. Yoda, T. Tohmonda, A. Kanaji, M. Matsumoto, Y. Toyama, K.

Horiuchi, ADAM17 regulates IL-1 signaling by selectively releasing IL-1 receptor type 2 from the cell surface. *Cytokine*. **71**, 238–245 (2015).

85. P.-H. Kuhn, E. Marjaux, A. Imhof, B. Strooper, C. Haass, S. F. Lichtenthaler, Regulated Intramembrane Proteolysis of the Interleukin-1 Receptor II by α -, β -, and γ -Secretase. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. **282**, 11982–11995 (2007).

86. E. Ydens, A. Cauwels, B. Asselbergh, S. Goethals, L. Peeraer, G. Lornet, L. Almeida-Souza, J. A. V. Ginderachter, V. Timmerman, S. Janssens, Acute injury in the peripheral nervous system triggers an alternative macrophage response. *Journal of*

neuroinflammation. 9, 176 (2012).

87. M. Mueller, C. Leonhard, K. Wacker, B. E. Ringelstein, M. Okabe, W. F. Hickey, R. Kiefer, Macrophage Response to Peripheral Nerve Injury: The Quantitative Contribution

of Resident and Hematogenous Macrophages. *Laboratory Investigation*. **83**, 3780605 (2003).

88. V. H. Perry, M. C. Brown, S. Gordon, The macrophage response to central and peripheral nerve injury. A possible role for macrophages in regeneration. *J Exp Medicine*.
165, 1218–1223 (1987).

89. S. Shamash, F. Reichert, S. Rotshenker, The Cytokine Network of Wallerian Degeneration: Tumor Necrosis Factor-α, Interleukin-1α, and Interleukin-1β. *Journal of Neuroscience*. 22, 3052–3060 (2002).

90. S. J. Bray, Nature Reviews Molecular Cell Biology, in press,

doi:10.1038/nrm.2016.94.

91. D. Sprinzak, A. Lakhanpal, L. Lebon, L. A. Santat, M. E. Fontes, G. A. Anderson, J. Garcia-Ojalvo, M. B. Elowitz, Cis-interactions between Notch and Delta generate mutually exclusive signalling states. *Nature*. **465**, 86–90 (2010).

92. V. C. Luca, K. M. Jude, N. W. Pierce, M. V. Nachury, S. Fischer, K. Garcia,
Structural biology. Structural basis for Notch1 engagement of Delta-like 4. *Science (New York, N.Y.).* 347, 847–53 (2015).

93. L. Gama-Norton, E. Ferrando, C. Ruiz-Herguido, Z. Liu, Z. Liu, J. Guiu, A. B. Islam,
S.-U. U. Lee, M. Yan, C. J. Guidos, N. López-Bigas, T. Maeda, L. Espinosa, R. Kopan,
A. Bigas, Notch signal strength controls cell fate in the haemogenic endothelium. *Nature communications*. 6, 8510 (2015).

94. X. Hu, W. He, X. Luo, K. Tsubota, R. Yan, BACE1 Regulates Hippocampal Astrogenesis via the Jagged1-Notch Pathway. *Cell Reports*. **4**, 40–49 (2013).

95. W. He, J. Hu, Y. Xia, R. Yan, β-Site Amyloid Precursor Protein Cleaving Enzyme 1(BACE1) Regulates Notch Signaling by Controlling the Cleavage of Jagged 1 (Jag1) and Jagged 2 (Jag2) Proteins. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. **289**, 20630–20637 (2014).

96. A. Woodhoo, M. B. D. Alonso, A. Droggiti, M. Turmaine, M. D'Antonio, D. B.
Parkinson, D. K. Wilton, R. Al-Shawi, P. Simons, J. Shen, F. Guillemot, F. Radtke, D.
Meijer, M. L. Feltri, L. Wrabetz, R. Mirsky, K. R. Jessen, Notch controls embryonic
Schwann cell differentiation, postnatal myelination and adult plasticity. *Nat Neurosci.* 12, 839–847 (2009).

97. X. Hu, H. Hou, C. Bastian, W. He, S. Qiu, Y. Ge, X. Yin, G. J. Kidd, S. Brunet, B. D. Trapp, S. Baltan, R. Yan, BACE1 regulates the proliferation and cellular functions of Schwann cells. *Glia.* **65**, 712–726 (2017).

98. E. Monsalve, A. Ruiz-García, V. Baladrón, M. Ruiz-Hidalgo, B. Sánchez-Solana, S. Rivero, J. J. García-Ramírez, A. Rubio, J. Laborda, M. M. Díaz-Guerra, Notch1 upregulates LPS-induced macrophage activation by increasing NF-κB activity. *European Journal of Immunology*. **39**, 2556–2570 (2009).

99. A. S. Kimball, A. D. Joshi, A. E. Boniakowski, M. Schaller, J. Chung, R. Allen, J. Bermick, W. F. Carson, P. K. Henke, I. Maillard, S. L. Kunkel, K. A. Gallagher, Notch Regulates Macrophage-Mediated Inflammation in Diabetic Wound Healing. *Frontiers in Immunology.* **8**, 635 (2017).

100. Y. Lin, J.-L. Zhao, Q.-J. Zheng, X. Jiang, J. Tian, S.-Q. Liang, H.-W. Guo, H.-Y.Qin, Y.-M. Liang, H. Han, Notch Signaling Modulates Macrophage Polarization and

Phagocytosis Through Direct Suppression of Signal Regulatory Protein α Expression. *Frontiers in Immunology*. **9**, 1744 (2018).

101. H. H. Outtz, I. W. Tattersall, N. M. Kofler, N. Steinbach, J. Kitajewski, Notch1 controls macrophage recruitment and Notch signaling is activated at sites of endothelial cell anastomosis during retinal angiogenesis in mice. *Blood.* **118**, 3436–3439 (2011).

102. M. M. Appenheimer, R.-Y. Huang, E. V. Chandrasekaran, M. Dalziel, Y. Hu, P. D.

Soloway, S. A. Wuensch, K. L. Matta, J. Lau, Biologic contribution of P1 promoter-

mediated expression of ST6Gal I sialyltransferase. *Glycobiology*. 13, 591–600 (2003).

103. S. Kitazume, K. Nakagawa, R. Oka, Y. Tachida, K. Ogawa, Y. Luo, M. Citron, H.

Shitara, C. Taya, H. Yonekawa, J. C. Paulson, E. Miyoshi, N. Taniguchi, Y. Hashimoto,

In Vivo Cleavage of $\alpha 2,6$ -Sialyltransferase by Alzheimer β -Secretase. *Journal of*

Biological Chemistry. **280**, 8589–8595 (2005).

104. G. P. Bhide, K. J. Colley, Sialylation of N-glycans: mechanism, cellular
compartmentalization and function. *Histochemistry and Cell Biology*. 147, 149–174
(2017).

105. M. B. Jones, D. M. Oswald, S. Joshi, S. W. Whiteheart, R. Orlando, B. A. Cobb, B-cell-independent sialylation of IgG. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*.
113, 7207–7212 (2016).

106. X. Deng, J. Zhang, Y. Liu, L. Chen, C. Yu, TNF-α regulates the proteolytic degradation of ST6Gal-1 and endothelial cell-cell junctions through upregulating expression of BACE1. *Scientific Reports*. **7**, 40256 (2017).

107. K. Ley, C. Laudanna, M. I. Cybulsky, S. Nourshargh, Getting to the site of inflammation: the leukocyte adhesion cascade updated. *Nat Rev Immunol.* **7**, 678–689 (2007).

108. J.-T. Liou, C.-M. Lee, Y.-C. Lin, C.-Y. Chen, C.-C. Liao, H.-C. Lee, Y.-J. Day, P-selectin is required for neutrophils and macrophage infiltration into injured site and contributes to generation of behavioral hypersensitivity following peripheral nerve injury in mice. *PAIN*®. **154**, 2150–2159 (2013).

109. S. F. Lichtenthaler, D. Dominguez, G. G. Westmeyer, K. Reiss, C. Haass, P. Saftig,
B. Strooper, B. Seed, The Cell Adhesion Protein P-selectin Glycoprotein Ligand-1 Is a
Substrate for the Aspartyl Protease BACE1. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*. 278,
48713–48719 (2003).

110. J. W. Griffin, R. George, C. Lobato, W. R. Tyor, C. Y. Li, J. D. Glass, Macrophage responses and myelin clearance during Wallerian degeneration: relevance to immunemediated demyelination. *J Neuroimmunol.* **40**, 153–165 (1992).

111. X. Fontana, M. Hristova, C. D. Costa, S. Patodia, L. Thei, M. Makwana, B. Spencer-Dene, M. Latouche, R. Mirsky, K. R. Jessen, R. Klein, G. Raivich, A. Behrens, c-Jun in Schwann cells promotes axonal regeneration and motoneuron survival via paracrine signaling. *J Cell Biology*. **198**, 127–41 (2012).

112. F. Bosse, K. Hasenpusch-Theil, P. Küry, H. W. Müller, Gene expression profiling reveals that peripheral nerve regeneration is a consequence of both novel injurydependent and reactivated developmental processes. *J Neurochem.* **96**, 1441–1457 (2006). 113. P. J. Arthur-Farraj, M. Latouche, D. K. Wilton, S. Quintes, E. Chabrol, A. Banerjee,
A. Woodhoo, B. Jenkins, M. Rahman, M. Turmaine, G. K. Wicher, R. Mitter, L.
Greensmith, A. Behrens, G. Raivich, R. Mirsky, K. R. Jessen, c-Jun reprograms Schwann
cells of injured nerves to generate a repair cell essential for regeneration. *Neuron*. 75,
633–47 (2012).

114. H. Kang, J. W. Lichtman, Motor Axon Regeneration and Muscle Reinnervation in Young Adult and Aged Animals. *J Neurosci.* **33**, 19480–19491 (2013).

115. S. L. Cole, R. Vassar, The Basic Biology of BACE1: A Key Therapeutic Target for Alzheimer's Disease. *Curr Genomics*. **8**, 509–30 (2007).

116. R. Vassar, B. D. Bennett, S. Babu-Khan, S. Kahn, E. A. Mendiaz, P. Denis, D. B.

Teplow, S. Ross, P. Amarante, R. Loeloff, Y. Luo, S. Fisher, J. Fuller, S. Edenson, J.

Lile, M. A. Jarosinski, A. Biere, E. Curran, T. Burgess, J.-C. Louis, F. Collins, J. Treanor,

G. Rogers, M. Citron, β -Secretase Cleavage of Alzheimer9s Amyloid Precursor Protein

by the Transmembrane Aspartic Protease BACE. Science. 286, 735–741 (1999).

117. R. Yan, M. J. Bienkowski, M. E. Shuck, H. Miao, M. C. Tory, A. M. Pauley, J. R.

Brashler, N. C. Stratman, W. R. Mathews, A. E. Buhl, D. B. Carter, A. G. Tomasselli, L.

A. Parodi, R. L. Heinrikson, M. E. Gurney, Membrane-anchored aspartyl protease with Alzheimer's disease β-secretase activity. *Nature*. **402**, 533–537 (1999).

118. G. Pépin, J. Ferrand, K. Höning, W. S. N. Jayasekara, J. E. Cain, M. A. Behlke, D. J. Gough, B. R. G. Williams, V. Hornung, M. P. Gantier, Cre-dependent DNA recombination activates a STING-dependent innate immune response. *Nucleic Acids Res.*44, 5356–64 (2016).

119. H. S. Taskinen, T. Olsson, A. Bucht, M. Khademi, L. Svelander, M. Röyttä, Peripheral nerve injury induces endoneurial expression of IFN-γ, IL-10 and TNF-α mRNA. *J Neuroimmunol.* **102**, 17–25 (2000).

120. B. S. Mietto, A. Kroner, E. I. Girolami, E. Santos-Nogueira, J. Zhang, S. David,
Role of IL-10 in Resolution of Inflammation and Functional Recovery after Peripheral
Nerve Injury. *J Neurosci.* 35, 16431–16442 (2015).

121. D. Bastien, S. Lacroix, Cytokine pathways regulating glial and leukocyte function after spinal cord and peripheral nerve injury. *Experimental Neurology*. 258, 62–77 (2014).

122. P. Liu, J. Peng, G.-H. Han, X. Ding, S. Wei, G. Gao, K. Huang, F. Chang, Y. Wang, Role of macrophages in peripheral nerve injury and repair. *Neural Regen Res.* 14, 1335 (2019).

123. N. Mokarram, A. Merchant, V. Mukhatyar, G. Patel, R. V. Bellamkonda, Effect of modulating macrophage phenotype on peripheral nerve repair. *Biomaterials*. **33**, 8793–8801 (2012).

124. J. Fissel, M. H. Farah, Macrophage-specific deletion of BACE1 does not enhance macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nerve. *J Neuroimmunol*. **349**, 577423 (2020).

125. M.-H. Ou-Yang, J. E. Kurz, T. Nomura, J. Popovic, T. W. Rajapaksha, H. Dong, A. Contractor, D. M. Chetkovich, W. G. Tourtellotte, R. Vassar, Axonal organization defects in the hippocampus of adult conditional BACE1 knockout mice. *Sci Transl Med.*10, eaao5620 (2018).

126. X. Hu, J. Hu, L. Dai, B. Trapp, R. Yan, Axonal and Schwann Cell BACE1 Is
Equally Required for Remyelination of Peripheral Nerves. *The Journal of Neuroscience*.
35, 3806–3814 (2015).

127. F. R. Fricker, D. L. Bennett, The role of neuregulin-1 in the response to nerve injury. *Future Neurology*. **6**, 809–822 (2011).

128. F. R. Fricker, A. Antunes-Martins, J. Galino, R. Paramsothy, F. L. Russa, J. Perkins,
R. Goldberg, J. Brelstaff, N. Zhu, S. B. McMahon, C. Orengo, A. N. Garratt, C.
Birchmeier, D. L. H. Bennett, Axonal neuregulin 1 is a rate limiting but not essential
factor for nerve remyelination. *Brain J Neurology*. 136, 2279–97 (2013).

129. S. Lombardo, M. Chiacchiaretta, A. Tarr, W. Kim, T. Cao, G. Sigal, T. W. Rosahl,W. Xia, P. G. Haydon, M. E. Kennedy, G. Tesco, BACE1 partial deletion induces

synaptic plasticity deficit in adult mice. Sci Rep-uk. 9, 19877 (2019).

130. X. Zhang, R. Goncalves, D. M. Mosser, *Curr Protoc Immunol Ed John E Coligan Et Al*, in press, doi:10.1002/0471142735.im1401s83.

131. R. Kalagara, W. Gao, H. L. Glenn, C. Ziegler, L. Belmont, D. R. Meldrum, Identification of stable reference genes for lipopolysaccharide-stimulated macrophage gene expression studies. *Biology Methods Protoc.* **1**, bpw005 (2016).

132. Y. Zhang, A. T. Argaw, B. T. Gurfein, A. Zameer, B. J. Snyder, C. Ge, Q. R. Lu, D.
H. Rowitch, C. S. Raine, C. F. Brosnan, G. R. John, Notch1 signaling plays a role in regulating precursor differentiation during CNS remyelination. *Proc National Acad Sci.*106, 19162–19167 (2009).

John Fissel

409 S Wolfe St, Baltimore, MD 21231 Mobile: (575) 993-3040 | e-mail: jfissel1@jhmi.edu, jfissel7@gmail.com

CAREER OBJECTIVE

I intend to pursue a career as a clinical microbiology laboratory director. I will soon be training for ABMM certification as the 2021-2023 CPEP Medical and Public Health Microbiology Fellow at Children's Hospital Los Angeles.

EDUCATION

Ph.D. Pathobiology	2014 - 2020
Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine, Baltimore, MD	
B.S. Microbiology, Minor in Biochemistry	2013
New Mexico State University, Las Cruces, NM	

RESEARCH EXPERIENCE

Ph.D. Candidate

Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine; Baltimore, MD August 2014 – October 2020 Mentor: Dr. Mohamed H. Farah

Researching the potential therapeutic effects of BACE1 inhibitor for peripheral nerve regeneration, with emphasis on researching the mechanisms underlying the enhanced recruitment and activity phenotype of macrophages in mice that have reduced BACE1 activity through genetic deletion or pharmacological inhibition. The contribution of endogenous BACE1 expression in macrophages is being assessed in mice with macrophage specific deletion of BACE1.

Laboratory Research Assistant

Sapphire Energy; Las Cruces, NM

May 2013 - May 2014

Worked in Quality Assurance/Quality Control and Crop Protection groups for the research team of an algae biofuel company. Analyzed samples from algae ponds to detect pathogens, tested susceptibility of pathogens to fungicide panel, reported findings, and made recommendations for pond fungicide treatments.

Laboratory Research Assistant

New Mexico State University; Las Cruces, NM

Independent research project to determine if programmed cell death observed during the vegetative incompatibility response of the plant pathogen *Cryphonectria parasitica* is

October 2011 - May 2013

autophagic. The main tools of this research were a gene knockout and a GFP gene fusion construct of the gene of interest, *atg-8*.

TRANSLATIONAL RESEARCH ROTATIONS

Clinical Microbiology Rotation – Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing

Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine; Baltimore, MD December 2019 – June 2020 Preceptor: Dr. Patricia (Trish) J. Simner

Clinical Microbiology Rotation – Metagenomic Next Generation Sequencing Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine; Baltimore, MD April 2020 – June 2020 Preceptor: Dr. Patricia (Trish) J. Simner

TEACHING EXPERIENCE

Johns Hopkins University Teaching Institute Collaborative Teaching Fellowship Goucher College; Baltimore, MD August 2019 – December 2019

Delivered lessons, assisted with in class activities, and trained students in basic laboratory techniques in Principles of Chemistry I.

Teaching Assistant - Pathology for Graduate Students: Neuropathology Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine; Baltimore, MD May 2017 & 2018

Coordinated guest lecturers, graded exams, and helped lead journal club discussions.

Teaching Assistant - Pathology for Graduate Students: Basic Mechanisms

		Johns Hopkins	s University Scl	nool of Medicine; Baltimore, I	MD September 2015 & 2016
--	--	---------------	------------------	--------------------------------	--------------------------

Prepared and delivered lecture on basic anatomy/physiology of the endocrine system.

HHMI BioCat Peer Facilitator

New Mexico State University; Las Cruces, NM

August 2011- May 2013

Served as a peer facilitator for Biology 211 Cellular and Organismal Biology. Guided students during in-class activities. Held office hours for students who sought extra help, tutoring, or clarification of course topics.

COMMITTEE SERVICE

Graduate Program in Pathobiology Admissions Committee Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine; Baltimore, MD	December 2018				
Graduate Program in Pathobiology Recruitment Committee					
Johns Hopkins University School of Medicine; Baltimore, MD	January 2016				

PUBLICATIONS

H.H. Mostafa*, **J.A. Fissel***, B. Fanelli, Y. Bergman, V. Gniazdowski, M. Dadlani, K.C. Carroll, R. Colwell, P.J. Simner. (Accepted) Metagenomic Next-Generation Sequencing of Nasopharyngeal Specimens Collected from Confirmed and Suspect COVID-19 Patients. *mBio*

C.P. Morris, Y. Bergman, T. Tekle, **J.A. Fissel**, P.D. Tamma, P.J. Simner. (In Press) Cefiderocol Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing against Multidrug-Resistant Gram-negative Bacilli: A Comparison of Disk Diffusion to Broth Microdilution. *Journal of Clinical Microbiology*

J.A. Fissel, M.H. Farah. (2020) Macrophage specific deletion of BACE1 does not enhance macrophage recruitment to the injured peripheral nerve. *Journal of Neuroimmunology. 349*, 577423

J.A. Fissel, M.L. Yarbrough, T. Tekle, C.A.D. Burnham, P.J. Simner. (2020) Reporting Considerations for Cefepime Susceptible and Susceptible-Dose Dependent Results for Carbapenemase-Producing *Enterobacterales. Journal of Clinical Microbiology.* 58(9).

Y. Liu, B. Sebastian, B. Liu, Y. Zhang, **J.A. Fissel**, B. Pan, M. Polydefkis, M.H. Farah. (2017) Sensory and autonomic function and structure in footpads of a diabetic mouse model. *Scientific Reports*, 7, 41401.

L. Liu, **J.A. Fissel**, A. Tasnim, J. Borzan, A. Gocke, P.A. Calabresi, M.H. Farah. (2016) Increased TNFR1 expression and signaling in injured peripheral nerves of mice with reduced BACE1 activity. *Neurobiology of Disease*, 93, 21-27.

CONFERENCES

American Society for Microbiology Microbe, Chicago, IL Frequency of Cefepime Susceptible and Susceptible-Dose Dependent Results for

Carbapenemase-Producing Enterobacterales, June 2020 (Accepted Abstract, meeting canceled)

Society for Neuroscience Annual Meeting, Nanosymposium, San Diego, CA Increased TNF α /TNFR1 signaling on macrophages in the injured peripheral nerve of BACE1 KO mice, November 2016

6th Molecular Mechanisms of Axon Degeneration Meeting, Bar Harbor, ME Increased TNFα/TNFR1 signaling on macrophages in the injured peripheral nerve of BACE1 KO mice, September 2016

16th International Neural Regeneration Symposium, Pacific Grove, CA Potential Therapeutic Effect of BACE1 Inhibitor in Treating Diabetic Neuropathy in a Mouse Model, November 2015